The just transition from industrial animal production to equitable, humane and sustainable food systems

About this paper

This white paper was created by a coalition of organisations dedicated to ensuring a just transition away from the industrial animal agriculture system. The document has been through extensive consultation amongst impacted groups, including food chain worker organisations (e.g. unions, farmworker and meat-processing workers), smallholder farmers, small-scale fishers, pastoralists, women and youth in agriculture, Indigenous peoples, peasant communities, and just transition organisations. Over 120 individuals representing 72 organisations from 35 countries provided feedback.

The outcomes of the consultation process are reflected throughout the paper to support the views and narratives of impacted groups. As we work together to build a global movement to phase-out industrial animal agriculture, it's important to acknowledge the diversity of perspectives and needs among impacted groups. While the paper's contents represent a shared vision and pathways for transformation away from the industrial animal agriculture system, the details may not fully represent each organisation's unique viewpoints and priorities.

Core writing team:

Center for Biological Diversity
World Animal Protection
Global Forest Coalition
Brighter Green
Aquatic Life Institute

Contributors: Youth in Agroecology and Restoration Network, Jeunes Volontaires pour l'Environnement/ Youth Volunteers for the Environment, African Biodiversity Network, Real Food Systems, New Roots Institute, Care About Climate.

Executive summary

Urgent action for a just transition from industrial animal production to equitable, humane and sustainable food systems

The global system of industrial animal production, including industrial fishing and aquaculture, is fundamentally flawed, inequitable and pushing our planet to the brink. It prioritises profit over everything else, exploiting workers, communities, women, animals and the environment, and is a critical threat to public health. It is unsustainable and undermines crucial international targets such as the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals, the Paris Agreement on climate change and the Kunming-Montreal Global Biodiversity Framework. This alarming situation demands urgent action for a just transition towards an equitable, humane and sustainable food system.

Despite mounting evidence of its disastrous impacts, industrial animal production continues to expand, driving deforestation, habitat destruction and pollution. This rampant growth poses a grave threat to our planet's climate, with global food system emissions alone endangering the 1.5°C target even if we phase out fossil fuels immediately. Reducing the size of the industrial animal agriculture, fishing and aquaculture sectors, together with a shift towards diets within planetary and social boundaries and agroecology, must become a central climate mitigation strategy.

According to experts, global emissions from animal production must decline by 50% by 2030 to meet the targets of the Paris Agreement¹. In an equitable, humane and sustainable food system, there is no place for false solutions. Concepts such as 'carbon farming', 'sustainable intensification' and 'regenerative agriculture' have significant trade-offs or limitations,² are poorly defined³ or are not feasible at scale.⁴ Carbon markets and other offset programmes allow industrial agriculture facilities to continue business as usual and keep producing greenhouse gas emissions and releasing air, water and soil pollution instead of reducing these harms. To meet the necessary emissions-reduction target, efforts will have to be led by high meat and dairy consuming and producing countries through a decrease of consumption of animal-based products and the number of farmed animals in industrial production systems.

We must act now to shift towards equitable, humane and sustainable food systems. This involves putting smallholder farmers at the centre and adopting agroecological practices that actively promote human rights, particularly the rights of traditionally marginalised populations including women and girls, Indigenous populations, people of colour and people with disabilities. It also means protecting the environment and animal welfare, while ensuring food sovereignty meets food security needs and guaranteeing that people working across the food system live in dignity and receive a liveable income.

Along with significantly decreasing consumption of animal products in high - consuming countries, remaining animal sourced foods are produced on small and medium-sized diversified farms using high welfare standards, strong worker protections and agroecological practices. Corporations are held accountable for the social and environmental damage they cause and the power that the multinational meat, dairy and seafood corporations currently hold over the system is shifted towards communities, worker-led programmes, cooperatives, Micro, Small & Medium Enterprises and smallholder farmers to strengthen local and regional economies.

Alternative proteins require far less land, water and energy to produce than conventional animal-based meat and dairy and, as such, can be a tool in the short term to address the environmental harms of high meat consumption by rapidly increasing the access and availability of humane and sustainable proteins. This can help accelerate the shift towards diets within planetary boundaries in high consuming countries and free up land and resources to support diversified agroecological production systems. However, alternative proteins are not the end goal of a just transition as there are concerns about the social and public health dimensions of this sector. There are also concerns about whether alternative proteins can be compatible with food sovereignty since the sector is firmly entrenched in the industrial agriculture system. We must be particularly vigilant not to replicate the harmful practices and consolidation of power seen in industrial animal production systems and improve standards of sustainability and justice in this sector, including food tech justice and ensuring open access. In the long-term, food system transformation will move away from industrial products towards agroecologically-produced, humane and sustainable foods.

The need for analog products to accelerate the shift from animal-sourced foods to diets within social and planetary boundaries is largely a regional issue in high - consuming countries. There is an opportunity for the low-consuming countries to leapfrog these technologies and the industrial animal agriculture model of the

Global North by maintaining and promoting diets within social and planetary boundaries through the strengthening of agroecology and ensuring the availability of whole plant and minimally processed plant-based proteins.

Any exploitation of people, communities, workers, or the planet is not a just transition. A just transition shifts to a worker-owned, local and regional system where a healthy economy and a clean environment can and should co-exist. The process for achieving this vision should be a fair one that does not cost workers or communities their health, environment, jobs, or financial security.⁵

A just transition can only be achieved with the active involvement of women, youth, smallholder farmers, peasants, pastoralists, small-scale fishers, food workers, Indigenous communities and people of colour. It must address inequality and achieve food sovereignty, while addressing the climate drivers that create injustice. It must centre social, racial and gender equity and take an approach that addresses the multiple intersecting forms of discrimination such as sexism, racism, and ableism. Gender-based solutions and racial equity strategies that acknowledge the specific impacts experienced by women, Indigenous people, and people of colour and their crucial role in and knowledge of agriculture are critical.

This requires a strong commitment and inclusive process from governments that must use a human rights-based approach based on multilateralism with a clear definition of roles and responsibilities that involves impacted groups at all levels. Climate justice and the principle of common but differentiated responsibilities under the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change must guide this process, accounting for regional and cultural variations and sensitivities towards food.

Animal-based foods can be part of an equitable, humane and sustainable food system with Indigenous and traditional practices, knowledge and consumption patterns, which are vastly different from industrialised, high -meat diets in Global North countries. The just transition primarily applies to industrialised production and agribusinesses. It recognises the role of culturally-appropriate meat consumption and the economic, social, nutritional, and cultural significance of traditional livestock and pastoralist systems in certain contexts and communities. It also recognises the essential role of smallholders farmers, pastoralists, small-scale fishers, women, Indigenous peoples and peasants in providing healthy and nutritious food for all. The transition is an opportunity to address and advance the conditions and livelihoods of these groups by improving the current system through the adoption of agroecology, high welfare standards and the recognition and

strengthening of traditional land rights of smallholders and marginalised groups, particularly women, people of colour and Indigenous communities.

This paper outlines a roadmap to accelerate the just transition to a climate-resilient food system that is locally and democratically governed, mitigates greenhouse gas emissions, promotes biodiversity, protects animal welfare, empowers workers, and advances food sovereignty that fulfils food security. This is a global framework to guide the development of context specific roadmaps.

To achieve the transition, we must pull three key levers of change:

- Strengthen food system governance: We need to challenge the dominance of the food system by multinational corporations and put policies in place to foster transparency and hold them accountable for their social and environmental impacts. At the same time, we should support environmentally and socially responsible companies and protect and elevate traditional and local food systems.
- **Promote agroecological practices**: A just transition necessitates the embracing of agroecology to promote human rights, environmental protection and animal welfare, and to ensure food sovereignty meets food security needs while providing dignified and sustainable livelihoods.
- Shift towards diets within planetary and social boundaries: Countries with high per capita consumption of animal-based products must transition to plant-rich diets with reduced meat and dairy to stay within planetary and social boundaries. This shift will benefit public health and free up land and resources to support diversified agroecological production systems.

The roadmap includes more than 100 specific policy recommendations that will vary in priority, relevance, and applicability depending on local and regional contexts, including current legislation, cultural sensitivities, community-based solutions, levels of consumption and production of animal-sourced foods, and how entrenched industrial animal agriculture is in the region.

The urgency of this just transition cannot be overstated. The consequences of inaction are dire, from irreversible biodiversity loss and climate catastrophe to human rights abuses, public health crises and widespread animal suffering.

Governments, businesses, civil society and individuals must come together to drive this transformative change. We must embrace a future in which the systems that produce our food prioritise the well-being of people, animals and our planet over corporate profits. The time for action is now, and the path forward is clear. It is time to create an equitable, humane and sustainable food system that will secure a future for generations to come.

Table of contents

The just transition from industrial animal production to equitable, humane and sustainable food systems	1
Glossary	7
Part I – Background	12
1.1 Introduction	12
1.2 The case for a just transition	13
Livelihoods	13
Human and labour rights	14
Food sovereignty and food security	15
Climate	17
Biodiversity	18
Public health	18
Animal welfare	20
Part II – Transforming the industrial animal-production sector	21
2.1 Protecting livelihoods	21
2.2 Ensuring food security and sovereignty	23
2.3 The role of food and agricultural policies	25
2.4 The role of trade agreements	27
2.5 The role of public and private finance	28
Part III – Roadmap to an equitable, humane and sustainable food system	29
3.1 Our vision for an equitable, humane, and sustainable food system	29
3.2 Principles of a just transition in food and agriculture	31
3.3 Just transition policy recommendations	35
Lever 1: Policies to strengthen food system governance	35
Lever 2: Policies to shift towards agroecological practices	42
Lever 3: Policies enabling a shift towards diets within planetary and social boundaries	48

Glossary

Agroecology: La Via Campesina Definition ⁶: refers to a way of life that supports life-enriching systems and opposes life-alienating systems. It works together with nature and not against it, cherishing synergies between living beings and prioritising traditional farmer knowledge and participatory, transgenerational, and experiential learning processes. Agroecological principles are based on solidarity, circular, and regional economies within ecological boundaries that are truly beneficial for communities. It prioritises the rights of small-scale food producers and forms a movement towards equality and social justice for all people worldwide.

Alternative proteins: refers to engineered proteins that are plant-based, cultivated or fermentation-derived⁷. These products are intended to taste the same as, or better than, conventional animal products and to provide similar nutritional value while costing the same or less. This term covers a wide variety of emerging products, some of which use novel technologies that are not yet regulated. Many currently rely primarily on monoculture crops⁸.

Compared to conventionally produced animal proteins, alternative proteins require fewer inputs such as land and water, and generate far fewer negative externalities, such as greenhouse gas emissions (GHGs) and pollution ⁹.

Some of these products are available to consumers today, including numerous plant-based and fermentation-derived options. Others, such as cultivated meats, remain primarily in development, with a few products commercialised only in Singapore and the US¹⁰. It is important to note that the full health and environmental impact of these new products will depend on several factors, including the energy sources used, the efficiency and sustainability of production methods, the scalability of the technology and the overall lifecycle analysis of the process¹¹.

Alternative proteins raise numerous concerns about the social and public health dimensions of a just transition since the sector is firmly entrenched in the industrial agriculture system. With the sector continuing to grow, alternative proteins are addressed in this document as a potential tool in the short-term to help reduce consumption of animal-based products in high-consuming countries only if certain conditions are met to ensure equity and justice. They are not considered the end goal of the transition.

Diets within planetary and social boundaries: refers to balanced diets with low environmental impacts that contribute to food and nutrition security and to the

health of present and future generations. Diets within planetary and social boundaries are protective and respectful of animal welfare, biodiversity and ecosystems. They are culturally acceptable, accessible, economically fair and affordable, nutritionally adequate, safe and healthy, and optimise natural and human resources. Diets within planetary and social boundaries prioritise plant-based foods such as whole grains, fruits, vegetables, nuts, and legumes. Meat and dairy are still included, but make up a smaller portion of the overall diet compared to plant-based foods.

Diversified protein system and protein diversification: refers to moving away from over-reliance on animal protein from industrial systems to the production and consumption plant-based proteins, particularly beans, lentils, nuts, seeds and minimally processed plant-based food and small amounts of food of animal origin (dairy, eggs, meat and fish) from equitable, humane and sustainable systems.

Equitable, humane and sustainable protein: refers to alternative and animal proteins produced in ways that protect human rights, the environment and animals, while ensuring food sovereignty fulfils food security and guaranteeing that food workers, smallholder farmers and small-scale fishers live in dignity and receive a sustainable livelihood. Animal proteins are from high-welfare systems where farm animals' physical, environmental and behavioural needs are met, where resource use is sustainable and where benefits flow across the value chain and to local communities.

Factory farming, industrial animal agriculture and industrial livestock production: refers to animal breeding, rearing, slaughtering, processing and/or feed operations involved in the mass production of meat, dairy and eggs. Typically controlled by multinational corporations, this production involves breeding and/or rearing from hundreds to hundreds of thousands of animals in concentrated feeding operations (mostly chickens, dairy cows, pigs and some fish farms), feedlots (beef cows) or extensive, controlled grazing systems (beef and dairy cows) that feed into massive vertically integrated supply chains. These production models do not acknowledge the sentience, or prioritise the welfare, of nonhuman animals. For the purpose of this paper we will be consistently using the term 'industrial animal agriculture' to keep in mind the fact that we are talking about living beings.

Global South/Global North: There is no agreed definition. For the purpose of this paper, Global South refers to low and middle-income countries in Africa, Asia

(excluding Japan, and South Korea), Oceania (excluding Australia and New Zealand), Latin America, and the Caribbean. The Global North comprises North America and Europe, Israel, Japan, South Korea, Australia, and New Zealand.

High meat and dairy consuming countries: refers to countries with annual per capita consumption over the recommended intake by EAT Lancet Commision to be in line with the planetary health diet. Consumption per capita should be no more than 98 grams of red meat (pork, beef or lamb), 203 grams of poultry and 196 grams of fish per week, or 5,1 kg, 10,5 kg and 10,2 kg a year respectively¹².

Industrial animal production: refers to industrial livestock, fish and aquaculture production.

Industrial aquaculture: refers to extensive, semi-intensive or intensive aquaculture, depending on the level of input and output per farming area and the stocking density. Intensive aquaculture refers to fish farms that rely predominantly on fish meal and fish oil in the growth process, whereas extensive aquaculture allows the stock to grow on its own, using natural food sources and conditions (e.g. oyster farming).

Industrial fishing: refers to large commercial fishing vessels (as opposed to artisanal fishing) that make long trips far out to sea and catch large volumes of fish in any waters.

Just transition: (Just Transition Alliance definition)¹³: refers to a principle, a process and a practice. The principle of just transition is that a healthy economy and a clean environment can and should co-exist. The process for achieving this vision should be a fair one that should not cost workers or community residents their health, environment, jobs, or economic assets. Any losses should be fairly compensated. And the practice of just transition means that the people who are most affected by pollution — the frontline workers and the fenceline communities — should be in the leadership of crafting policy solutions.

Just transition of the animal production system: refers to shifting the global system of protein production from industrial animal production (which favours high-quantity, low-quality meat and seafood and maximising corporate profits at the expense of workers, animals, public health and the environment) to one that is based on agroecological practices that produce equitable, humane and sustainable proteins, in order to alleviate animal, human and environmental suffering on a global scale. The just protein transition applies throughout the

supply chain from farm to fork and protects and empowers smallholders by adhering to agroecological principles.

Marginalised population: refers to groups and communities who experience discrimination and exclusion due to unequal power relationships across economic, political, social and cultural dimensions¹⁴. Marginalised populations include but are not limited to women, people of colour, and Indigenous populations.

Plant-based foods¹⁵: refers to fruits, vegetables, legumes, grains, nuts and seeds; their derived processed counterparts such as breads, pasta, breakfast cereals, cooked and fermented vegetables and legumes, and fruit purées, juices and jams; and their derived ingredients such as oleaginous seed-derived oils, sugars and some herbs and spices.

Plant-based protein: refers to protein derived from plants. Plant-based proteins include protein-rich whole plant foods such as pulses, nuts and seeds, and minimally processed plant-based foods such as tofu, tempeh and seitan.

Private investment: refers to money invested by private actors, such as transnational corporations, investment banks, private equity firms, and other profitdriven entities, rather than by democratically-governed public institutions, local cooperatives, tribal collectives, or other community-centred initiatives.

Regenerative agriculture: there is no single scientific or legal definition of regenerative agriculture as opposed to agroecology. Further, according to the International Panel of Experts on Sustainable Food Systems (IPES Food) analysis ¹⁶ 'the primary difference with agroecology concerns the human and social dimensions, social equity being one of the 3 pillars of agroecology, but not explicitly mentioned in the concept of regenerative agriculture. By contrast, definitions of regenerative agriculture tend to refer to a more confined scope in that they refer primarily to natural systems and technical practices, emphasising environmental restoration, preservation, and sustainability in ways that downplay human dimensions and socio-technical relations.' For these reasons, we will be using and promoting agroecological practices throughout this paper.

Scope 3 emissions (GHG Protocol definition)¹⁷: refers to the result of activities from assets not owned or controlled by the reporting organisation but which the organisation indirectly affects in its value chain. Scope 3 emissions include all sources not within an organisation's scope 1 and 2 boundary. The scope 3 emissions for one organisation are the scope 1 and 2 emissions of another

organisation. Scope 3 emissions, also referred to as value chain emissions, often represent the majority of an organisation's total GHGs.

Smallholders or smallholder farmers: the definition for smallholders or smallholder farmers, sometimes called small-scale farmers, can vary from country to country in terms of the exact size of the farm, but for the purpose of this paper the term refers to small-scale farmers, pastoralists, forest keepers who farm or manage areas on a limited scale, varying from less than one hectare to 10 hectares, independent of multinational agribusiness corporations. They may or may not own the land they work and often rely on labour from family members. They retain some of the food they produce for household consumption.

Small-scale fishers: as for smallholders, although the definition may vary from country to country. For the purposes of this paper the term refers to producers fishing on a limited scale, independent of multinational agribusiness corporations. They may or may not own their boat and often rely on labour from family members. They retain some of the seafood they catch for household consumption.

Unsustainable livestock production: refers to any method of animal agriculture that causes ongoing or escalating harm to the environment at any stage of production — both at the farm level and at scale — including but not limited to habitat destruction, desertification, eutrophication, water scarcity, biodiversity loss and excessive GHGs. These forms of damage typically have long-term effects on both ecosystems and agricultural production. Exploitation and other harm to animals, workers, women and communities also defines unsustainable production, because sustainability can only be achieved through practices that protect animals, people and the planet.

Part I – Background

1.1 Introduction

The global system of industrial animal production, including industrial fishing and aquaculture, favours high-quantity, low-quality meat, dairy, eggs and seafood and maximises corporate profits at the expense of workers, local communities, women, animals, public health and the planet. This system is fundamentally inequitable, inefficient, financially flawed and environmentally unsustainable. As such, it is incompatible with the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), the Paris Agreement, the Kunming-Montreal Global Biodiversity Framework and other critical international targets^{18,19}. The widespread use of industrial animal farming, fishing and aquaculture make a sustainable future for our planet impossible.

The future we advocate for is a reduction of industrial animal agriculture, fishing and aquaculture through a just transition to a system based on agroecology that results in the production of equitable, humane and sustainable proteins on a global scale. The transition applies throughout the supply chain from farm to fork and protects and empowers smallholders by adhering to agroecology. The transition is viable and necessary.

Yet industrial animal agriculture continues to expand despite widespread evidence proving its detrimental impact on people, the environment and animals. Even amid avian and swine flu outbreaks, high feed prices and COVID-19-related disruptions, meat production increased by 5% in 2021²⁰.

Globally, the availability of protein from poultry, pigs, cattle and sheep is projected to increase by 14%, 17%, 9% and 15% respectively by 2032²¹, with poultry accounting for the highest proportion at 48% of protein consumed from meat sources²². This projected increase is expected to be driven, particularly in low- and middle-income countries, by rising incomes, leading to an increased demand for meat and dairy and to a larger number of animals being raised in intensive industrial systems²³, with all the associated negative social and environmental consequences.

Similarly, most of the increase in world fisheries and aquaculture production will come from the industrial aquaculture sector, which is the fastest-growing animal protein industry. Global fish production (capture and aquaculture) is expected to grow from 181 Metric tons (2021–22 average) to 202 Metric tons by 2032, an increase of 12%²⁴.

While the industrial animal agriculture, fishing, and aquaculture models fit within a broader industrial agriculture system that also needs to shift, this paper will focus solely on a just transition for the industrial animal production sectors.

The first section highlights the impacts of the current industrial system on people, the environment and animals. The second section examines some of the factors that currently support the industrial animal agriculture, fishing, and aquaculture systems. It describes the levers of change in the Global North and South towards food systems that protect human rights, the environment and animals, ensure food sovereignty that fulfils food security and guarantee that food workers, smallholders and small-scale fishers live in dignity and receive a sustainable livelihood. The last section provides a road map for policymakers, guided by the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) principle of 'common but differentiated responsibilities'²⁵, to accelerate the transition.

1.2 The case for a just transition

While the risks of industrial animal production and the benefits of a just transition have broad socioeconomic, environmental, health and equity implications, this paper focuses on seven key areas: livelihoods, human and labour rights, food sovereignty and food security, climate, biodiversity, public health, and animal welfare.

Livelihoods

Traditional forms of animal husbandry in the Global South, such as pastoralist or agropastoral systems, provide an important source of nutrients, family income, community cohesion, transport, fuel, and fertiliser inputs (manure) for crop production on mixed farms. As a result, the sector plays a major role in reducing poverty, improving resilience, and combating food insecurity and malnutrition ^{26,27}. A UN Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) report estimates that livestock contributes to the livelihoods of about 1.7 billion poor people; 70% of those employed in the sector are women ²⁸.

However, traditional animal food production systems are currently facing two challenges. On the one hand, increasing temperatures, less-productive soil and unreliable rains will significantly impact crop yields^{29,30} and increase the risk of heat stress³¹ in grazing animals, leading to higher mortality and lower productivity³².

On the other hand, industrial livestock systems are replacing traditional forms of livestock production in the Global South ³³, where only larger farms are able to compete with the economy of scale of multinational corporations and survive; smaller farms cannot structurally compete in domestic or international markets, leading to concentration in the sector³⁴. The import of inexpensive food results in

limited opportunities for local small-scale farmers to sell their goods, compelling individuals to relocate³⁵. This is often reinforced by the financial and policy support and powerful lobbying and investment enjoyed and wielded by agribusinesses³⁶.

In Latin America, around 70% of pastoral areas are degraded, with the consequent loss of productivity³⁷ associated with long-standing trends such as land concentration and the exclusion of women from land tenure. The enabling conditions for agricultural production (subsidies, access to land and loans) tend to increase social injustices, further marginalisin g small producers, particularly women³⁸.

In the Global North and some parts of the Global South, where industrial animal production is already entrenched, smallholder farmers have had no option but to sign contracts with multinational meat and dairy corporations, requiring heavy investments and leading them into debt³⁹. In Thailand, which has been a pioneer of contract farming, the scheme has resulted in numerous farmers experiencing high levels of debt and low levels of income, particularly those raising livestock⁴⁰. Through these contracts corporations pass on production risks to farmers. These include crop failure due to environmental disasters, floods and droughts, or livestock dying due to disease⁴¹, making it challenging for farmers to live in dignity and earn a livable income.

Globally, nearly 60 million people rely on fisheries and aquaculture for employment⁴². While aquaculture can positively impact economic growth and poverty reduction at a national level, evidence shows that promoting aquaculture can primarily benefit larger and better-off farms, thus increasing inequality⁴³. Further, many of these communities, such as those in West Africa, are threatened by poor fisheries management (e.g. catch limits, illegal fishing) and unsustainable fishing practices that result in overfishing⁴⁴, which displaces aquatic resources from local fishing communities⁴⁵.

Human and labour rights

Industrial animal agriculture jobs are notoriously dangerous, with slaughterhouse and other workers in the sector at higher risk of respiratory diseases⁴⁶, exposure to antimicrobial-resistant bacteria⁴⁷, and debilitating injury and death ⁴⁸. The hazards of the meatpacking industry have been well documented for more than a century, as have the poor protections for slaughterhouse workers, creating one of the most high-risk industries in the world⁴⁹. Exploitative conditions, including overcrowded accommodation, long working hours, low pay, illegal wage deductions and job insecurity have a disproportionate impact on vulnerable populations such as migrant and cross-border workers^{50,51}. These working conditions, coupled with the stressful nature of the work, lead to slaughterhouse workers being more likely to experience mental health problems compared to other industries. These can

include depression, anxiety and stress-related symptoms, and post-traumatic stress disorder⁵².

The gender gap in the agricultural sector is also a recurrent concern. In Latin America, 40.9% of women work unpaid, compared to 11.1% of men. Likewise, child labour (10–14 years) in the rural sector is considerably higher than in the urban sector in several of the countries analysed, and in some countries, such as Mexico and Honduras, it exceeds 30%⁵³.

Industrial fishing has also been known to have a poor human rights record, with violations including slave and child labour⁵⁴. Industrial fishing and aquaculture can infringe on the rights of Indigenous peoples and other marginalised groups by disrupting traditional land and resource-use practices and contaminating nearby waters and native species.

Animal production is a significant driver of land use change. Livestock production accounts for 83% of all agricultural land and 30% of the land surface of the planet⁵⁵. The amount of land required for industrial livestock production often leads to human rights violations, land grabbing from Indigenous peoples⁵⁶ and other local communities, and increased land concentration in the hands of multinational corporations at the cost of smallholders and causing loss of livelihoods and compromised food sovereignty⁵⁷.

Food sovereignty and food security

Food sovereignty is based on the fundamental right to food as nourishment, and on valuing sustainable livelihoods for food producers, local food systems, ecosystem improvement and the knowledge and skills of Indigenous peoples, peasant communities, young people and women. It is grounded in democratic decision-making by affected communities⁵⁸.

Industrialised animal agriculture defies food sovereignty by commodifying food, preventing contracted farmers from choosing what to grow and how to grow it, and impeding the ability of local producers to grow their own food. This is exacerbated by the fact that just four companies control more than two-thirds of global seed sales — the same companies that control the majority of agrochemicals⁵⁹. Furthermore, the industrialised food system not only undermines the basis for future food security and sovereignty but also ignores the fact that smallholders produce one-third of the world's food, with large variations depending on country and regional contexts⁶⁰.

In Latin America, livestock production has grown twice as fast as in the rest of the world and the region has become the world's largest exporter of beef and poultry – activities that account for around 45% of the subregion's agricultural GDP ⁶¹. However, this does not necessarily translate to food sovereignty, since 86% of

agrifood exports are to countries outside Latin America and are concentrated on a few products⁶² (including soybeans used for animal feed): ten products account for 51% of agrifood exports⁶³, making them highly vulnerable to the dynamics of international markets.

Industrial animal agriculture is often said to be essential for food security, but in fact it undermines food security through the inefficient use of resources. Industrial livestock occupy agricultural land that could be used to produce food crops, and livestock production diverts human-edible food for livestock feed⁶⁴. Globally, 36% of cereals⁶⁵ and 77% of soya⁶⁶ are currently fed to farmed animals rather than directly nourishing people.

According to the FAO⁶⁷, primary crop production has increased by 52% (to 9.3 billion metric tons) since 2000, and meat production has risen by 45% (to 337 million metric tons). Yet only 55% of food-crop calories feed people directly. Indeed, for every 100 grams of protein in human-edible cereals fed to livestock, just 43 grams of protein enter the human food chain as meat or dairy milk and only 17 to 30 calories out of 100 can be used for energy⁶⁸.

Industrial animal agriculture relies on the international trade in animal feed, increasing interregional interdependencies globally, which increases the vulnerability of countries importing feed for industrial animal agriculture to major world events such as wars, pandemics (e.g. COVID-19, highly pathogenic avian influenza) and market price shocks⁶⁹.

Although aquaculture has been touted as one solution to feed a growing population, global aquaculture production is dominated by intensive and fed aquaculture (carnivorous species that rely on wild-caught fish feed to grow, i.e., farmed salmon). Feed for this type of aquaculture is composed of one-third to one-half wild-caught fish⁷⁰ in addition to corn and soy crops⁷¹.

This translates to 1.2 trillion individual fish ⁷² that are fed to farmed fish not people, creating a highly inefficient use of animal protein sources and calories. In fact, an estimated 90% of the wild fish used in feeds could instead be eaten directly by humans⁷³.

Industrial aquaculture further undermines food security because it disproportionately affects local food production and distribution by exporting fish feed that could instead be used for human consumption locally. An FAO report found that since fishmeal factories began operating in Mauritania the price of locally consumed fish has increased fourfold⁷⁴.

Climate

Estimates for the contribution animal agriculture makes to global GHG emissions range from 11.2% to 19.6%^{75,76}. Estimates are far higher when factoring in emissions from land conversion for animal feed production and grazing⁷⁷. Industrial animal agriculture causes 32% of global anthropogenic methane emissions, more than natural gas, oil or coal production⁷⁸. Methane emissions may be underestimated by as much as 39% to 90% in areas with highly intensified confined feeding operations, which further undermines these models as a sustainable development solution⁷⁹. Methane is a short-lived gas with more than 80 times the global warming potential of CO2 over a 20-year period, making it essential to reduce industrial livestock to reach the targets of Paris Agreement⁸⁰. Just 15 dairy and meat companies produce a staggering quantity of emissions, amounting to approximately 734 million tons of CO2 equivalent. This is roughly the same as the total GHG emissions of Germany, the world's fourth-largest economy⁸¹.

In addition to methane, the industrial animal agriculture sector is also a significant source of nitrous oxide emissions through both the production of animal feed and the management of manure. Producing animal feed requires substantial use of nitrogen-based fertilisers, whilst nitrous oxide emissions occur when nitrogen from manure evaporates and disperses. Nitrous oxide is also a cause of water pollution when nitrogen from manure runoff enters water bodies or leaches into groundwater through soil⁸².

Industrial fishing, specifically bottom trawling, releases massive amounts of carbon that would otherwise be stored in the seabed. It also causes ocean acidification and reduces the ocean's ability to store carbon dioxide. In industrial aquaculture, climate impacts include the destruction of carbon-sequestering ecosystems such as mangroves for shrimp farming, the emissions from fishing, and the transport and processing of feed for farmed salmon. In fact, scope 3 emissions⁸³ account for over 80% of all GHG emissions in salmon farming, 40% of which comes from feed⁸⁴.

Global food system emissions driven by unsustainable industrial animal agriculture, fishing, and aquaculture will make it impossible to achieve the 1.5°C target even if fossil fuels are immediately phased out⁸⁵. The latest IPCC report has identified shifts towards diets rich in plant-based foods, particularly pulses, nuts, fruits and vegetables, such as vegetarian, pescatarian or vegan diets, as a substantial mitigation strategy for industrialised countries⁸⁶.

Biodiversity

Industrial animal agriculture, fishing and aquaculture are responsible for a disproportionate contribution to the extinction crisis. They are a primary driver of threats to wildlife, including habitat destruction and degradation (including loss of forests, grasslands and ocean ecosystems), air and water pollution, drought, climate change, overfishing and direct threats to keystone species ⁸⁷. Diseases originating in industrial animal agriculture facilities can spill over into wildlife with deadly consequences. Highly pathogenic avian influenza is an example and has led to the culling of millions of birds and put the future of already imperilled wild species, including the California condor, at risk^{88,89}.

⁹⁰. This has the greatest negative impact on nature and on the ability of biodiversity to recover and thrive. In South America and Africa the most significant losses of forest cover between 2010 and 2020⁹¹ occurred mainly because of the conversion of forested land to pasture for livestock and animal feed crops such as soybeans.

According to a landmark report supported by the United Nations, agriculture is a primary source of biodiversity loss and threatens 86% of species at risk of extinction⁹².

One million wild plant and animal species will face extinction in the coming decades unless action is taken to address the key drivers of biodiversity loss⁹³. The disappearance of species and habitats poses serious consequences for all life on Earth, from the loss of carbon sinks, crop pollination, soil health, marine biodiversity and water purification to medical, spiritual and cultural losses.

Public health

Industrial animal agriculture accounts for 73% of global antibiotic use⁹⁴. The overuse of these products in animals as growth promoters and for the prevention of diseases caused by overcrowding and unhygienic conditions increases the threat of antimicrobial resistance (AMR) and has been linked to drug-resistant infections in animals and humans⁹⁵.

Antibiotic misuse is also a common practice in the industrial fishing and aquaculture sector⁹⁶, leading to the prevalence of multi-drug-resistant bacteria in marine waters and sediments in close proximity to aquaculture, industrial and municipal discharges⁹⁷. AMR already causes 1.27 million human deaths per year⁹⁸, a figure that could rise to ten million global deaths annually by 2050 if no action is taken⁹⁹. The World Health Organization (WHO) has called the AMR crisis

'one of the biggest threats to global health, food security and development today' 100.

The massive amount of animal waste generated by industrial animal production can contaminate nearby rivers and other water bodies and lead to the deaths of large populations of fish ¹⁰¹. Antibiotic residues and antibiotic-resistant bacteria pollute water¹⁰²; pigs and poultry assimilate less than half of the nitrogen in their feed: most is excreted in their manure. The nitrogen not absorbed by crops or animals leaches into rivers, lakes, groundwater and marine ecosystems¹⁰³. Slaughterhouses are also a major source of pollution, with data documenting facilities discharging 63 pollutants and 17 metals into waterways¹⁰⁴. A study of 98 large slaughterhouses found that mid-range facilities produced an average amount of daily nitrogen pollution equivalent to the untreated sewage of 14,000 people¹⁰⁵. Excess nitrogen can contaminate drinking water and lead to toxic algal blooms that cause harm to people and aquatic life.¹⁰⁶

Furthermore, nitrogen undergoes transformations, releasing the reduced form ammonia (NH3) into the atmosphere. Agriculture is responsible for over 81% of global ammonia emissions and significantly contributes to PM2.5 air pollution. PM2.5 is linked to chronic respiratory illnesses and premature mortality¹⁰⁷.

About 75% of all emerging infectious diseases are zoonotic in nature. Increasing human demand for animal protein drives industrial animal agricultural expansion and land-use change, which are the main drivers of zoonotic diseases globally¹⁰⁸.

Industrial animal agriculture also negatively impacts soil health. The sector's huge demand for cereals has fuelled intensive crop production which, in seeking to maximise yields, has caused compaction and loss of organic carbon ¹⁰⁹. This has degraded soils to the point where poor soil quality is constraining productivity¹¹⁰.

Industrial animal agriculture is also responsible for an enormous volume of pesticide use – more than 200 million pounds of pesticides are used each year just on feed crops in the US¹¹¹ – leading to reduced soil biodiversity; without rich biodiversity soil fertility declines¹¹². The FAO calculates that soils are now so degraded that we have only about 60 years of harvests left.¹¹³

Pesticide exposure can contribute to a wide range of chronic illnesses, including neurodegenerative disorders, endocrine disruption, respiratory disease, cardiovascular disease and cancer¹¹⁴. Pesticide Action Network estimates that about 44% of farmers and farm workers globally are poisoned by pesticides each year, leading to more than 7,000 deaths¹¹⁵. A US analysis found that pesticide exposures disproportionately harm black and Indigenous people and people of colour, and low-income and low-wealth communities¹¹⁶. Pesticide exposure also affects communities in sub-Saharan Africa, particularly women ¹¹⁷.

Industrial animal agriculture has a huge negative impact on health and the environment. Added to this is high consumption of red and processed meat¹¹⁸, both risk factors for obesity, non-communicable diseases (type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular disease and some forms of cancers) and premature mortality in most regions of the world. High consumption of these animal products, combined with low intake of fruit and vegetables, is among the main drivers of global health-related deaths among adults¹¹⁹.

A global switch to diets within planetary and social boundaries could save 5.1 million lives and reduce healthcare costs by at least \$735 billion USper year by 2050¹²⁰. A just transition to agroecology would save even more lives by reducing the risks of AMR¹²¹, zoonotic disease transmission ¹²² and exposure to pesticides.

Animal welfare

The concept of animal sentience, which entails the capacity for an animal to have subjective experiences including pleasure and pain, is now widely accepted and supported by scientific evidence¹²³. However, after almost six decades of discussion of the impacts of industrial farming on animal well-being, the world's default system for producing livestock for human consumption remains the biggest cause of animal suffering.

It is estimated that 90% of farmed animals globally are currently living in industrial systems. This includes an estimated 72% of farmed land animals (vertebrates only) and virtually all farmed fish ¹²⁴. To put this into perspective, approximately 630 million cattle, 670 million pigs and 19.24 billion poultry animals are raised in these industrial systems at any given time globally ¹²⁵. When considering these three categories together, the total exceeds 20 billion animals. An additional 124 billion farmed fish are raised under similar conditions ¹²⁶.

Animals bred and reared in industrial operations are routinely subjected to extreme physical and mental harm. Most animals are kept in small cages or overcrowded, unsanitary spaces and throughout their lives cannot express natural behaviours¹²⁷. Standard industry practices include beak trimming, teeth clipping, tail docking and castration, all without anaesthetic or analgesics, and routine early separation of mothers from their young. Animals are subject to intensive genetic selection for traits that maximise fast growth, high yields of eggs and dairy milk, and the production of large litters. Genetic selection prioritises productivity and profit at the expense of animal welfare¹²⁸.

Fish in aquaculture operations are also kept in poor conditions; industrial fishing relies on the use of destructive and cruel fishing methods. The level of sentience can vary among different animals and fish species but the fact that animals and

fish are sentient beings is well established¹²⁹. Despite this, the industry does not allow them to live a good life.

Part II – Transforming the industrial animal-production sector

2.1 Protecting livelihoods

This just transition applies essentially to industrialised animal production and agribusinesses. It recognises the role of culturally-appropriate meat consumption and the economic, social, nutritional and cultural significance of traditional livestock and pastoralist systems in certain contexts and communities, particularly for women, providing them with income, capital, fertiliser, fuel, draught power, fibres and hides¹³⁰. Animal-based foods can be part of an equitable, humane and sustainable food system with Indigenous and traditional practices, knowledge and consumption patterns, which are vastly different from industrialised, high -meat diets in many Global North countries. It also acknowledges the essential role of smallholders, pastoralists, small-scale fishers, women, Indigenous peoples and peasants in providing healthy and nutritious food for all. This transition is an opportunity to advance their livelihoods by improving the current traditional livestock and pastoralist systems through the adoption of agroecology and high welfare standards to improve animal health, longevity and increase productivity. Agroecological, integrated livestock systems with reduced herd sizes in highconsuming countries and traditional livestock and pastoralist systems in the Global South can also contribute to healthy and resilient ecosystems. Achieving a just transition of the industrial animal production sector is interconnected with the right to food sovereignty, health and access to a healthy environment, particularly for the poorest and most marginalised communities¹³¹, including smallholders, pastoralists, peasants, small-scale fishers, women, Indigenous peoples and people of colour.

A just transition requires reducing our over-reliance on industrial animal protein by transitioning towards diets within planetary and social boundaries and supporting the consumption of the traditional, diverse and plant-rich diets that millions of the world's people eat or want to eat.

A study by global development experts estimates that a just transition to plantbased agriculture would create 19 million jobs by 2030 in Latin America and the Caribbean. The transition would net 15 million jobs in that region alone, taking into account the loss of 4.3 million jobs in the traditional livestock industry¹³².

The diversification of our protein system towards plant-based and other humane and sustainable proteins should emphasise bioregional¹³³, climate-resilient heritage foods¹³⁴ rather than mass-produced convenience food low in nutrients¹³⁵. Further, shifting diets in high- and upper-middle income countries¹³⁶ to reduce consumption of animal-sourced food and increase plant-based foods would free up crop land¹³⁷, allowing the development of diversified agroecological production initiatives including plant-based protein crops for human consumption, high-welfare animal husbandry and smallholder farming that reduces the risk to farmers from natural disasters, pests and disease, and reduces income losses from variable yields and seasonal shortages¹³⁸. Freed-up crop land that is converted back to native habitats, such as grasslands or forests, and other ecosystem restoration efforts, could also play an important role in carbon sequestration, reversing biodiversity declines, increasing resilience, restoring ecosystem services and improving livelihoods¹³⁹.

Transitioning to agroecology, by its nature, would provide a sustainable livelihood for smallholder farmers and small-scale fishers in the Global North and South and would safeguard food and nutrition security by protecting the pollinators, soil, water and other natural resources on which agriculture itself relies¹⁴⁰. An agroecological transition must also address the gender gap in agriculture: the FAO has acknowledged that if women had the same access to resources as men, they could feed up to 150 million more people.¹⁴¹

An FAO, United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) and United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP) report states that reallocating agricultural support to rewarding sustainable practices could improve productivity and environmental outcomes while boosting the livelihoods of the 500 million smallholder farmers worldwide, many of them women ¹⁴².

As with any major industry transition, the people who are the backbone of the industry – small-scale fishers, smallholder farmers and workers throughout the supply chain – usually bear the brunt of change. But with an inclusive and participatory capacity-building and skill-development process supported by governments, a just transition of the industrial animal production sector has the potential to significantly boost global and local economies by creating jobs that are safer, more equitable and inclusive, and better paid^{143,144}.

2.2 Ensuring food security and sovereignty

Despite global production from industrial animal agriculture and aquaculture increasing significantly on a global scale in the last two decades, the UN's 2023 'State of Food and Nutrition in the World' report revealed that approximately 735 million people continued to experience hunger in 2022. This represents an increase of 122 million compared to 2019, before the global pandemic. While there was progress in reducing hunger in Asia and Latin America between 2021 and 2022, instances of hunger are increasing in Western Asia, the Caribbean and all subregions of Africa¹⁴⁵.

Simply growing more food does not eliminate hunger. Food and nutrition security are only possible when food systems are environmentally and socially sustainable¹⁴⁶, when access and availability to nutritious food is guaranteed for all, and when food waste is addressed¹⁴⁷. According to the FAO and UNEP nearly one-third of all food produced is lost or thrown away, leading to severe environmental repercussions and perpetuating food insecurity^{148,149}.

Additionally, the disconnect between food production and consumption, coupled with global trade, leads to uneven food distribution, which further undermines food security and sovereignty. Global food production is about 2,200 kilocalories per person per day – sufficient to feed the world's current population ¹⁵⁰. About 40% of cropland produces animal feed and 30% of human-edible crops is used to feed livestock. In addition, 13% of global cropland is used to produce biofuels and textiles. Direct consumption of cereals by humans is more resource-efficient ¹⁵¹. The diversion of food capable of feeding humans to industrial livestock systems exacerbates unsustainable food production and consumption.

It is, therefore, critical to transition away from industrial animal production, which inherently puts biodiversity, ecosystems, the health of soils and fresh water¹⁵², and the stability of our climate at risk, making the restoration of nature untenable and threatening our ability to continue growing sufficient nutritious food. It must be replaced by an agroecological system supported by policies developed in consultation with local communities that decrease food loss and waste and guarantee access and availability to healthy and nutritious diets within planetary and social boundaries for all.

Alternative proteins have a lower environmental footprint compared to animal-based proteins, however, despite potential environmental benefits when compared to animal products, alternative proteins raise numerous concerns about the social and public health dimensions of a just transition since the sector is firmly entrenched in the industrial agriculture system. With the sector continuing to grow,

alternative proteins can be a tool in the short-term to help reduce consumption of animal-based products in high-consuming countries only if certain conditions are met to ensure equity and justice. But in the long-term, food system transformation will move away from industrial products toward agroecologically-produced, humane and sustainable foods.

The role of alternative proteins in the short term in decreasing consumption of animal-sourced proteins and diversifying proteins will vary depending on the local context. There is an opportunity for the Global South to leapfrog these technologies and the industrial animal agriculture model of the Global North by maintaining and promoting diets within social and planetary boundaries through strengthening agroecology and ensuring the availability of whole plant and minimally processed plant based proteins.

As the alternative protein sector is growing and multinational meat, dairy and seafood corporations are expanding into alternative protein ¹⁵³, it is critical that the just transition addresses the drivers of market concentration and corporate power in the sector to avoid replication of the same system failure of the industrial animal production sector it is replacing and limit corporate influen ce on food policies, so that food sovereignty is strengthened and smallholders, cooperatives and Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises are supported and in control of what to grow and how to produce it.

Declining land access, land ownership and control over land are significant barriers to shifting to agroecology. Globally, 1% of the world's largest farms control 70% of the world's farmland¹⁵⁴. Competition for land has never been as high with governments and businesses grabbing lands for carbon and biodiversity offsetting schemes and the expansion of extractive industries, including growing feed crop monocultures for industrial animal agriculture.

For generations, smallholders and Indigenous communities across the world have been farming their land without recognised or formalised ownership rights, putting them at risk of being evicted as governments, investors, speculators and businesses seek land for expansion, the carbon market or as financial assets¹⁵⁵.

Women, in particular, have experienced a weakening of their customary land rights due to formalisation processes that favour officially designated household heads, typically men. Consequently, decisions and meetings often predominantly involve men, while land use planning tends to overlook resources primarily managed by women. The transition towards agroecology will be an opportunity to advance the legal recognition of women's tenure over household land.

Recognition of traditional land rights and policies that strengthen land rights of marginalised groups, such as women, Indigenous communities and people of colour are essential to advance agroecology.

2.3 The role of food and agricultural policies

The current industrial animal agriculture and fishery sectors rely heavily on government subsidies, leading to artificially cheap animal protein ¹⁵⁶. According to UNEP, 87% of the \$540 billion used to support agricultural producers is either price distorting or harmful to nature and health ¹⁵⁷. The joint FAO, UNDP, UNEP report 'A Multi-Billion-Dollar Opportunity' calls for governments to rethink the way in which agriculture is subsidised and supported. It states that the 'phasing out of the most environmentally and socially harmful producer support is essential' to ensure sustainability and human health ¹⁵⁸.

Governments should use financial incentives such as subsidies, taxes and grants to support foods with a much lower carbon footprint and higher nutritional value. The US government, for instance, spends \$38 billion annually supporting industrial animal agriculture and a mere \$17 million for fruits and vegetables¹⁵⁹.

Shifting these subsidies away from industrial animal agriculture and fisheries towards reduced levels of sustainable and humane animal production, and increased plant-based protein sources and plant-based food systems can incentivise the production and con sumption of healthy, environmentally friendly options. Government subsidies should also be redirected towards supporting smallholder farmers implementing agroecological practices; small-scale fishers practising local artisanal fishing and seaweed and multi-trophic aquaculture; and improving infrastructure for local and regional food systems. Public funds should support in particular Indigenous peoples, peasants, pastoralists and youth communities, women, people of colour and other marginalised producers to ensure gender, racial and social justice, and food sovereignty that meets food security needs while protecting nature.

Additionally, government policies can be used to enforce corporate accountability for animal agriculture pollution, including utilising existing environmental laws, strengthening regulations and holding companies liable for damage to land, water, climate and public health. Policymakers can also end the externalisation of the GHG costs of industrial animal and fish production, water use, soil erosion, use of chemical pesticides¹⁶⁰ and fertilisers, and damage to public health, and make the retail price of these products reflect the true cost of production. This would disincentive the consumption of foods that cause significant environmental and social harm and, in turn, increase the affordability of healthy plant-based options, including fresh produce and plant-based proteins.

Alongside corporate accountability and transparency, governments must ensure that corporations and private actors aren't influencing policymakers by proactively requiring disclosures and assessing, addressing, and preventing conflicts of interest. Corporations currently have an enormous influence over policymakers – including politicians who sit on agriculture and trade committees – through political

donations, direct lobbying, trade associations, and funding academic institutions. US agribusinesses alone spent \$750 million on national political candidates from over the past 20 years and more than \$2.5 billion on lobbying in that same period, in addition to funding academic research that downplayed the industry's environmental impact¹⁶¹. In Brazil, agribusinesses have created a think tank with a working agenda and a monthly budget of around \$100,000 US to bring their narrative to the Brazilian congress¹⁶².

It is also important to acknowledge the role of supply-side policies and government-supported agri-food industry marketing in driving demand for more animal products, and redirect them towards supporting healthy, plant-based options. For example, a Greenpeace report found that 'In the period 2016–2020, the EU spent €252.4 million to exclusively promote European meat and dairy products, 32% of the overall €776.7 million spending on the promotion of agricultural products in the EU and abroad, compared to only 19% for exclusive promotion of fruit and vegetables. In addition to this, many of the funded campaigns state that it is their objective to reverse trends of falling meat or dairy consumption, or to stop the growth of consumption from slowing'¹⁶³.

Food and nutrition policies such as food-based dietary guidelines (FBDGs) are essential to increase access to healthier diets and promote sustainable food choices. About one-third of FBDGs are incompatible with the agenda on non-communicable diseases ¹⁶⁴, and most are incompatible with the Paris Agreement and other environmental targets ¹⁶⁵. The policies of high-meat-consuming countries should prioritise the development and promotion of national FBDGs and subsidies that align with the objectives of the Paris Agreement by emphasising the importance of diets within planetary and social boundaries, with reduced industrial meat, dairy and fish consumption, and increased intake of fruit, vegetables, whole grains and legumes.

Reducing the size of the industrial animal agriculture, fishing and aquaculture sectors is a neglected climate mitigation strategy. If G20 countries shifted towards diets within planetary and social boundaries the bloc's food-related emissions would fall by as much as 46% (1.7 gigatons)¹⁶⁶. A just transition away from intensive animal production would rapidly cut GHGs by reducing emissions of short-lived climate pollutants such as methane, restoring carbon-sequestering ecosystems and improving food system resilience by bringing about a shift towards more diversified, less resource-intensive plant-based foods.

Finally, governments must implement and enforce regulations to ensure safe and fair conditions for workers in the agricultural and fishing sectors. This includes proper training, protective equipment, fair wages and the prevention of exploitative practices such as bonded labour¹⁶⁷, and eliminating the gender gap in salaries.

2.4 The role of trade agreements

Current trade agreements set conditions for social, environmental and economic policies, requiring that they be the least trade-restrictive options possible. They also encourage corporate concentration in the industrial animal agriculture sector: a handful of global meat and dairy companies control significant market share in surplus livestock-producing countries. This leads to the massive overproduction of meat and commodity crops^{168,169}.

Corporate capture of both trade and agriculture policy has led to farm policies in livestock-producing countries supporting corn and soy production, resulting in the overproduction of those goods at artificially low prices. Cheap feed results in cheap meat that fails to account for the real costs to the environment, public health or animal welfare. The interest of multinational meat and dairy corporations in capturing a bigger share of the global market is driving a push for new export markets, leading to a vicious cycle of low prices, overproduction and corporate concentration. In the US, just four firms control more than 80% of meat processing. In Brazil, three companies dominate the domestic market¹⁷⁰. This concentration gives those companies ever greater power over supply chains and the choices that farmers and consumers make about their food systems.

Specific trade policies influence countries' ability to regulate their food systems and encourage a just transition to agroecology. For example, rules on plant and food safety (called Sanitary and Phytosanitary Standards or SPS) limit restrictions on GMOs and new technologies such as CRISPR-CAS9 in feed, as well as dubious existing practices such as the use of ractopamine in pork and hormones in beef. Mexico is currently involved in a trade dispute with the US over its plans to phase out of GMO corn and glyphosate.¹⁷¹ Agreements such as the EU–Mercosur deal would increase quotas for meat imports, overwhelming local farmers in Europe who are attempting to change their production methods and increasing pressure on land use and forests in Brazil¹⁷². Rules on intellectual property rights limit farmers' ability to save and share seeds.

These policies are not set in stone, however. New trade rules should take into account food systems, sovereignty and planetary boundaries. This can include climate waivers or a Climate Peace Clause at the WTO and in other trade deals that prevents trade disputes arising from countries' climate actions. It could specify that actions taken under the Paris Agreement, and others such as the Deforestation Pact, are free from trade challenges. SPS and Technical Barriers to Trade rules should prioritise the precautionary principle and consumers' right to know.

Other examples include: deforestation-free supply chain regulations that include meat and soy (as in the EU) and that provide substantial financial support to enable changes in food systems in producing countries¹⁷³; international trade

agreements that include farm animal welfare standards in line with domestic regulations in the EU¹⁷⁴; and Canada's dairy supply management programme that pays farmers a fair price for a limited volume of production ¹⁷⁵. Coupled with trade rules that limit floods of cheap imports, more policies such as these would facilitate smaller herds, pasture-based production and smaller overall production while supporting rural livelihoods.

Rethinking current trade agreements will be critical to avoiding further consolidation and to breaking down the dominance of the few multinational seafood, meat and dairy corporations as they increase their presence in the plant-based food and cultivated meat and seafood markets. Plant-based alternatives can be tools to reduce dependency on industrial animal protein in high -consuming countries in the short term. However, the growing alternative and plant-based protein sector requires additional guardrails, including improving worker protections and worker-owned production, strengthening agroecological approaches to the supply of plant-based protein and feedstocks, and strong animal welfare policies for the provision of cells for cultivated meat and seafood to avoid replicating the impacts of factory farming systems.

2.5 The role of public and private finance

Despite making commitments to align their investments with the Paris Agreement, the SDGs and the Kunming-Montreal Global Biodiversity Framework¹⁷⁶, some multilateral development banks (MDBs) are increasing their investment in industrial animal agriculture, including feed production. Between 2010 and 2021, the five largest public development banks allocated more than \$4.6 billion of taxpayers' funds to this sector¹⁷⁷.

In order to align with the goals of the Paris Agreement and address the urgent need to mitigate climate change, it is imperative that MDBs exclude industrial livestock and animal feed operations from the sectors they consider 'Paris-aligned'. Furthermore, it is crucial that MDBs cease financing the expansion of the global industrial livestock sector.

Private finance is even more problematic due to the lack of effective accountability mechanisms. Between 2015 and 2020, global meat and dairy companies received over \$478 billion in backing from more than 2,500 investment firms, banks and pension funds headquartered around the globe¹⁷⁸. And, while financial institutions have been touting their climate action, the majority of their efforts are focused on fossil fuels and ignore the significance of industrial animal agriculture. Financiers should publicly disclose a time-bound action plan to reduce all financed emissions in alignment with a 1.5°C pathway and based on climate science. This should exclude all investment in the industrial animal agriculture sector, beginning with an immediate halt to any form of finance that enables the industry to expand.

Rather than promoting global sustainability and the achievement of development goals, each dollar invested in factory farming undermines communities and exacerbates the problems caused by an unsustainable system.

Both public and private institutions have the power to redirect their investments to help mitigate the negative social and environmental impacts of industrial animal agriculture and fishing and create a more equitable, humane and sustainable food system.

Part III – Roadmap to an equitable, humane and sustainable food system

3.1 Our vision for an equitable, humane, and sustainable food system

In an equitable, humane and sustainable food system, nutritious foods are supplied through agroecology production systems that promote human rights — particularly the rights of traditionally marginalised populations including women and girls, Indigenous populations, people of colour and people with disabilities — and protect the environment and animals, while ensuring food sovereignty meets food security needs and guaranteeing that people working across the food system live in dignity and receive a liveable income.

Consumption of animal products in high-consuming countries is significantly decreased in favour of diversified, plant-rich diets, and remaining animal sourced foods are produced in worker-driven, cooperative production models using agroecological practices and high-welfare standards. Corporations are held accountable for the social and environmental damage they cause and the power that the multinational meat, dairy and seafood corporations currently hold over the system is shifted towards communities, worker-led programmes, smallholders, cooperatives and Micro, Small & Medium Enterprises to scale up local and regional economies.. At the same time, policies and subsidies support food production that embraces just transition principles and agroecological approaches without undermining the basis of food sovereignty.

In an equitable, humane and sustainable food system, there is no place for false solutions. Concepts such as 'carbon farming', 'sustainable intensification' and 'regenerative agriculture' have significant trade-offs or limitations, ¹⁷⁹ are poorly defined or are not feasible at scale. ¹⁸¹ Carbon markets and other offset programmes allow industrial agriculture facilities to continue business as usual and keep producing greenhouse gas emissions and releasing air, water and soil pollution instead of reducing these harms.

Animal-based foods can be part of an equitable, humane and sustainable food system with Indigenous and traditional practices, knowledge and consumption patterns, which are vastly different from industrialised, high -meat diets in many Global North countries. This just transition primarily applies to industrialised animal production and agribusinesses. It recognises the role of culturally-appropriate meat consumption and the economic, social, nutritional and cultural significance of traditional livestock and pastoralist systems in certain contexts and communities, particularly for women, providing them with income, capital, fertiliser, fuel, draught power, fibres and hides¹⁸². It also acknowledges the essential role of smallholders, pastoralists, small-scale fishers, women, Indigenous peoples and peasants in providing healthy and nutritious food for all.

This roadmap demonstrates pathways to shift to a climate-resilient food system that is equitable, humane and sustainable, as well as locally and democratically-governed, while mitigating greenhouse gas emissions, biodiversity loss and food insecurity — a global framework to guide the development of context-specific roadmaps.

It outlines **three key levers** of change to transform our food system that must be tailored to local and regional contexts, including current legislation, cultural sensitivities, community-based solutions, levels of consumption and production of animal-sourced foods, and how entrenched industrial animal agriculture is in the region:

- 1. **Strengthen food system governance**: We must challenge the dominance of multinational corporations over the food system and put policies in place to foster transparency and hold them accountable for their social and environmental impacts. At the same time, we should support environmentally and socially responsible companies and protect and elevate traditional and local food systems.
- 2. **Promote agroecological practices**: A just transition necessitates the embracing of agroecology to promote human rights, the environment and animals,

ensuring food sovereignty meets food security needs while providing dignified and sustainable livelihoods.

3. **Shift towards diets within planetary and social boundaries**: Countries with high per capita consumption of animal products must transition to plant-rich diets with reduced meat and dairy to stay within planetary and social boundaries. This shift not only benefits public health and the environment but also frees up land and resources to support diversified agroecological production systems.

3.2 Principles of a just transition in food and agriculture

According to experts, global emissions from animal production must decline by 50% by 2030 to meet the targets of the Paris Agreement¹⁸³. This effort will have to be led by high meat and dairy consuming and producing countries through a decrease in the consumption of animal products and the number of farmed animals in industrial production systems.

A just transition from industrial animal agriculture can only be achieved in partnership with smallholders, pastoralists, small-scale fishers and food workers to ensure it is developed in ways that address inequality, end exploitation, and achieve food sovereignty that meets food security needs. It must centre social, racial and gender equity and address the multiple intersecting forms of discrimination such as sexism, racism, and ableism. Gender-based solutions and racial equity strategies that acknowledge the specific impacts experienced by women and people of colour and their crucial role in agriculture are essential. The transition must take into account regional and cultural differences and requires a strong commitment and inclusive process from government at all levels. These processes must use a human rights-based approach based on multilateralism with a clear definition of roles and responsibilities.

The just transition must be guided by climate justice and the UNFCCC's 'common but differentiated responsibilities' principle. It must address and improve the conditions of marginalised groups and regions while recognising the role of the Global South, smallholders, pastoralists, small-scale fishers, women, Indigenous peoples and peasants in providing healthy and nutritious food for all. Those who are most impacted must be included in policy discussions and commitments from the beginning.

There must be policy coherence that aligns food and agriculture with social, environmental, health and labour goals and commitments. Policymakers need to transform food system governance to break up market concentration and hold corporations accountable, alongside promoting environmentally and socially responsible companies and supporting a transition to food production based on agroecology and food sovereignty.

Although each region will have its own unique dynamics and needs during this transition, the following principles can serve as a guide for policymakers and communities:

- Protect livelihoods and the dignity of farmers and farm workers: The independent livelihoods of those working in the food system, particularly smallholders, pastoralists, small-scale fishers, Indigenous people, people of colour and marginalised workers, must be protected through economic and policy support. This can range from job training and financial aid to mental health support and access to healthcare. Strong community support is essential, as is addressing the cultural impacts on communities from changes in livelihoods and diet.
- Advance human and labour rights and gender and racial equity: Every person has the right to safe working conditions free of exploitation, to liveable wages, access to healthcare and to gender and racial justice. Food and agriculture policy must be aligned with trade policy to avoid human rights violations caused by the displacement of industrial animal agriculture impacts via increased imports or exports constrained by few regulations. Additionally, food and trade policies should protect Indigenous communities from land-grabbing by ensuring the application of the right of Free, Prior and Informed Consent¹⁸⁴.
- Ensure food sovereignty that fulfils food security: Food and agriculture policy must value the fundamental right to food as nourishment rather than as a commodity, and empower smallholders to decide what to grow and how to grow it. Additionally, it must support local food systems and ecosystem improvement through democratic decision-making by affected communities and through the application of the knowledge and skills of Indigenous peoples, pastoralists, peasant communities, young people and women.
- Prioritise agroecology and diets within planetary and social boundaries: Food and agriculture policies and practices should follow the polluter pays and precautionary principles. They must be inclusive and enhance social justice and climate stability, ensure that there is healthy air and water, pollution mitigation, land restoration, animal welfare and wildlife conservation, and also ensure equitable access to land and to nutritious, sustainably-produced food.
- **Enhance public health**: The public health threats caused by industrial animal agriculture including AMR, zoonotic disease risk, environmental pollution, pesticide exposure and chronic, diet-related diseases must be addressed and

reversed through policy shifts, corporate accountability, and healthcare while transitioning to a food system focused on advancing individual and community health.

Improve animal welfare standards: In areas where pastoralists depend on livestock for food and livelihoods it will be critical to adopt agroecological practices including high welfare standards in line with the Five Domains¹⁸⁵. In other parts of the world, as industrial animal agriculture systems are being phased out, welfare standards for animals remaining in those systems must be aligned with the Farm Animal Responsible Minimum Standards (FARMS) to redress animal welfare, environmental and public health impacts¹⁸⁶.

Engaging Stakeholders

A key principle of a just transition in food and agriculture is ensuring an inclusive process that engages those who are most impacted by the transition. These stakeholders representing the food system from farm to fork must be meaningfully involved early in the process, ahead of implementing any new policies. It is critical that this participatory process centres the voices of marginalised populations, including smallholders, pastoralists, small-scale fishers, peasants, women, Indigenous peoples and people of colour, and does not allow corporations to dominate the discussion.

Mechanisms to achieve a just transition in food and agriculture

- Ensure early involvement and consultation with key stakeholders and marginalised groups.
- Use existing mechanisms to engage Indigenous and tribal groups such as the Civil Society and Indigenous Peoples' Mechanism for Relations with the United Nations Committee on World Food Security.
- Create locally relevant resources highlighting the local benefits of transitioning away from industrial animal agriculture and showing how the just transition will protect the different groups impacted.
- Work with key stakeholders to set clear priorities.
- Collaboratively implement and assess changes.

Who does the just transition impact?	Key stakeholders
Smallholder producers and their support systems	Smallholder farmers, small-scale fishers and aquaculture farmers, veganic farmers, organic livestock farmers, subsistence farmers, silvopastoralists/agroforestry

	farmers, organisations that represent the interests of non-corporate farmers (e.g. Via Campesina, IFOAM), farm advisory services, women's organisations (e.g. Paraguay's National Organization of Rural and Indigenous Women Workers (Conamuri), Brazil's National Commission of Rural Women Workers (CNMTR), Rural Women Workers Movement of the Northeast (MMTR-NE), the National Articulation of Women Warriors of Ancestry (ANMIGA))
Industrial producers and related industries	Multinational corporations across the supply chain (agrochemical and commercial seeds, synthetics fertilisers, livestock genetics, agriculture, animal pharmaceutical and health industry, agricultural commodity traders, manufactured equipment, meat/seafood/aquaculture and protein, food and beverage processors, transporters, slaughter/rendering byproduct users, farm insurance providers, meat and dairy industry associations)
Workers throughout the supply chain	Farmworkers in industrial producers e.g. marginalised workers, smallholders, pastoralists, peasants, small-scale fishers, women, Indigenous peoples and people of colour, in industrial fishing fleets, slaughterhouse workers, unions, migrant workers
Communities affected by agricultural production	Rural communities, autonomous communities, Indigenous Peoples, frontline and fence line communities, nomadic/pastoralists
Innovators	Alt protein companies, innovators working to improve agroecology
Researchers and advocates	Universities, research centres, think tanks, policy advocacy organisations, conservation organisations, Consultative Group on International Agriculture Research (CGIAR),

	government agricultural research and development departments, government agricultural extension departments
Regulators	Governments, FAO, UNEP, certification schemes, UNFCCC, CDB
Investors and funders	Development agencies and banks, private investors and shareholders, debtors, insurers, economists, foundations
Consumers	Low-income/low-access urban populations, people whose meat consumption has increased with rising income, chefs, retailers and grocery stores
Animals	Farmed animals, wildlife, fish and crustaceans

3.3 Just transition policy recommendations

Lever 1: Policies to strengthen food system governance

Financial justice

- Hold corporations accountable for paying taxes and financial responsibility for the harms they caused. Governments must end tax breaks and loopholes for corporations, and increase corporate tax rates for just and equitable transition. Rather than externalising the costs of corporate pollution and other harms caused by industrial food production, those responsible must fund fixing the harms they caused, with additional financial penalties benefiting impacted communities and/or smallholders.
- Repurpose direct and indirect government subsidies for multinational meat, dairy and seafood corporations. Subsidies in the form of direct payments, grants, preferential loans, surplus purchases, tax breaks and other financial benefits should shift away from funding multinational corporations, feed crops, crop insurance, and genetically-modified organisms and redirected towards increasing agroecological and conservation practices; helping farmers create carbon sequestering, biodiverse natural habitats; and supporting smallholders, small-scale fishers, women, historically marginalised producers farmer cooperatives and Micro

and Small Enterprises. This would include preventing multinational corporations from receiving specialised funding such as bailout programmes.

- Prohibit multilateral development bank investments in the expansion of industrial meat, dairy and seafood operations. It is crucial that MDBs implement environmental and social supply chain due diligence to all existing and future investments in order to achieve equitable, humane and sustainable food systems.
- Defund false solutions including biodigesters, carbon offsets and carbon removal or 'carbon farming' schemes. Funding should not be granted to any schemes or practices that further entrench industrial animal agriculture models, increase harm to marginalised communities, or grant licence to large corporations to continue polluting the environment.
- Mandate public development bank alignment with global agreements. Public and Multilateral development banks should add all elements of industrial livestock production, including feed manufacturing, to the list of activities considered universally non-aligned with the goals of the Paris Agreement. Industrial animal production must be excluded from financing due to its economic liabilities from climate risks and the ways in which it threatens to keep the goals of the Paris Agreement, Kunming-Montreal Global Biodiversity Framework, the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) and other global agreements out of reach. Banks should also report on progress, gaps and strategies related to meeting their targets.
- **Prevent private investments in the food system.** Private investment lacks effective accountability, encourages deregulation, deepens debt inequalities and threatens local and Indigenous food sovereignty. Safeguard food systems and protect the related "commons" from the investments, management, or ownership of private actors, such as transnational corporations, investment banks, private equity firms, and such profit-driven entities. These actors have been repeatedly documented for exposing food systems to exploitation, extraction, and destruction with minimum accountability. Instead, encourage local cooperatives, tribal collectives, community-centred initiatives, and democratically-governed public institutions to steward food systems with strong regulatory infrastructure for duty of care, access to justice, and reparation mechanisms.
- Create a task force at the regional (e.g. EU)/national (government)/state level to enforce regulations for investment-related misconduct. The task force should be empowered to pursue concerns such as corporations misleading investors about environmental commitments and advisors failing to follow environmental, social and corporate governance (ESG) policies. The US Securities and Exchange Commission established a Climate and ESG Task Force that proactively identifies and pursues such violations¹⁸⁷.

- Strengthen trade and investment agreements to prevent corporate influence and support food sovereignty. Rules that govern financial markets should prioritise public interest and the right to food while ensuring that regulatory bodies such as the UN are not subject to corporate influence.
- Fully fund agencies and programmes that enforce environmental and animal welfare protection laws and protections for farmworkers and food chain workers. Government agencies tasked with enforcing environmental, animal welfare and worker protection laws are often understaffed and underresourced, making it impossible to hold corporations accountable for violations. In addition to investing in agency-level enforcement, funding should also be directed to private, worker-driven enforcement programmes.

Accountability and governance

- Strengthen and enforce environmental and animal welfare regulations for industrial animal production. Corporations (including all of their domestic and international subsidiaries, lobbying groups, trade associations, and other related entities) must be held responsible for pollution, animal welfare infringements and other environmental harms caused throughout their supply chains, including those due to monoculture feed crops, animal production facilities, slaughterhouses and industrial fishing operations. Enforcement should include fines, permit revocation, suspension of market access and other appropriate sanctions. Their responsibility cannot be expressed as carbon or biodiversity offsets, net zero, gene editing, breed selection or other false solutions that would not tackle the root cause of the damage.
- Strengthen and enforce corporate accountability rules, including duty of care mechanisms and a 'do no harm principle' with mandatory disclosures. Corporations should be required to report on human rights and environmental impacts (including GHGs) along their entire supply chain, including subsidiaries, and compelled to perform duty of care throughout their business operations with appropriate enforcement and punishment for failure to do so. The European Commission's directive on corporate sustainability due diligence requires companies to identify, end, prevent, mitigate and account for negative human rights and environmental impacts as well as requiring certain large companies to have a plan for aligning their business strategy with the Paris Agreement¹⁸⁸.
- Strengthen and expand worker protection laws to guarantee basic human rights, health care, and collective bargaining. Corporations should be required to move from contractor relationships to employer relationships to increase protections and benefits for workers, while workers should have the right to collective bargaining. Farmworker and food chain workers must have the same

rights as other workers, including but not limited to access to proper medical care; access to legal representation; ability to attend parent-teacher conferences; protections from heat, smoke, and other climate-related impacts; paid leave and days off; health insurance; housing at a safe distance from pesticide spraying; and immigrant rights.

- Require companies to meet strong worker-protection standards and participate in worker-driven agreements to qualify for government funding, contracts, and incentives. End government funding and contracts, including procurement, for companies that engage in bad labour practices. Require companies to ensure specific improvements in employer policies and mechanisms for worker-driven agreements, monitoring and enforcement to qualify for funding initiatives. In 2023, the U.S. Department of Agriculture launched a guestworker expansion pilot programme that requires employers to improve working conditions, such as paid sick leave and worker housing maintenance, and to participate in a worker-driven social responsibility programme, have a collective bargaining agreement in place, or commit to neutrality, access, and voluntary recognition to receive a platinum-level financial award. 189
- Ban zero-hour contracts for workers across the food and agriculture supply chain. Contracts that don't require employers to provide a minimum or guaranteed number of working hours are often used to exploit workers by denying them reliable hours, fixed income and benefits. Banning these contracts would improve equity, dignity and wages for workers.
- Ratify and enforce the UN treaty on business and human rights. An intergovernmental working group is developing an international legally binding treaty to regulate transnational corporations and other business enterprises in regards to human rights. A strong treaty aligned with the UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights would provide an instrument to align accountability and liability to protect people from human rights abuses.¹⁹⁰
- Adopt a corporate accountability framework across UN proceedings. UN proceedings, including UNFCCC and United Nations Food Systems Summit (UNFSS), should be free from corporate influence and hold corporations accountable for human rights and environmental harm, while uplifting the voices of those most impacted by the food system¹⁹¹.
- Strengthen processes to assess and address conflicts of interest. Governments need to establish mechanisms to identify, disclose, monitor and mitigate conflicts of interest in food system spaces and processes, including preventing industry influence over regulatory guidance (e.g. advisory committees), public education narratives and research at government and public institutions. These mechanisms should utilise independent, third-party reporting and evaluation rather than relying on self-reporting.

- Stop the revolving door between government agencies and multinational corporations and industry lobby groups. Restrict the eligibility of representatives of multinational corporations and lobby groups to serve in government roles that have any oversight or regulatory influence over their former industry, and vice versa.
- Strengthen rules to prevent corporate interference in government policy. Lobbying and corporate spending should be restricted and transparent. Reporting should be improved to prevent corporate influence over policy and elections.
- Strengthen and enforce antitrust rules. Antitrust rules should address the full range of social and environmental impacts related to market consolidation in the animal agriculture industry. This includes accountability for direct and indirect harms to smallholders and local communities caused by corporate consolidation, restrictions on corporations moving abroad to avoid regulation, and ending monopoly control of slaughterhouses.
- Establish regulatory frameworks for alternative protein investments. Any investments in alternative proteins should be paired with regulatory and safety approvals to ensure that this growing sector is subject to the same level of accountability as animal production, that it respects the guidelines contained in global agreements such as the Paris Agreement, the SDGs and the Kunming-Montreal Global Biodiversity Framework and that companies are prevented from locating commercial-scale facilities abroad. Investments should also prioritise domestic production and require open-source, communal properties.
- Strengthen reporting requirements for industrial animal agriculture facilities and other public health responses to zoonotic diseases and pandemics. Government agencies must require widespread testing of animals, reporting, on-farm biosecurity measures, and personal protective equipment, sick days, and health care for workers to stop zoonotic diseases emerging from or spreading through industrial animal agriculture facilities. Agency enforcement must be sufficiently funded along with technical assistance and other support needed to meet these requirements, facilitate the adoption of the highest animal welfare standards to prevent disease spread, and ensure a rapid public health response to zoonotic disease threats.
- Strengthen reporting requirements for all greenhouse emissions associated with industrial animal production. Corporations should be required to regularly report all greenhouse gas emissions, including Scope 3 emissions, for their entire value chain including methane from enteric fermentation and manure management and nitrous oxide from feed production using standardised, science-based methodology. Corporate targets and GHG reporting

and monitoring schemes should be consistent with the IPCC's scenarios to limit warming to 1.5°C.

- Establish national and regional councils with the status to influence policy. Governments should form councils including representatives from civil society and community-led organisations, smallholders, small-scale fishers, women's organisations, economists, youth, and other stakeholders, and empower them with adequate resources, decision-making capabilities, and influence over policy to help democratise food system governance, reduce corporate control, and improve accountability.

Trade

- Adopt trade policies that prioritise domestic production, support local food systems and disincentivise multinational corporations. Trade policies that establish agroecological production requirements, prohibit fast food businesses with negative social and environmental impacts, and require businesses to source from local suppliers can help break up market concentration and stop the expansion of multinationals in the Global South.
- Establish policy coherence between trade and global agreements.

 Reform and enforce trade policies to align with the Paris Agreement, SDGs,

 Kunming-Montreal Global Biodiversity Framework, human rights treaties and other
 global agreements.
- Strengthen liability and accountability in trade agreements.

 Corporations receiving investments, incentives and access to import/export markets must be held accountable for environmental and social harms in their supply chains.
- Restrict trade in food and agricultural products associated with deforestation. Corporations should have to prove that food and agricultural products were produced without harming forest ecosystems. The EU's regulation on deforestation-free supply chains mandates companies to show that products were produced on land where no deforestation or forest degradation took place, in addition to verifying compliance with human rights laws and respecting the rights of Indigenous peoples¹⁹².
- Allow context-specific trade standards for healthy and sustainable food and agricultural products. Communities should have the ability to set standards based on local and regional contexts to minimise trade impacts on their environment, public health and local economies.
- Reject carbon or biodiversity offsetting schemes in domestic and international policy. Offset schemes, including carbon markets, shift the harm caused by industry to marginalised communities particularly smallholders, pastoralists, peasants, small-scale fishers, women, Indigenous peoples and people

of colour — while destroying irreplaceable ecosystems and accelerating climate change.

- Reject enslavement, child labour, and other human rights abuses in food supply chains in domestic and international policy. Trade policies must hold companies responsible for exploitation and abuse in their supply chains.
- Strengthen the application of Free Prior and Informed Consent when multinationals set up in the Global South. The UN declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples recognises the right of Indigenous groups to provide, withhold or withdraw consent regarding investment projects that affect their territories, in addition to engaging in negotiations around the design, implementation, monitoring and evaluation of projects¹⁹³. This right must be universally applied with legal remediations for violations.
- Protect smallholders, peasants, small-scale fishers and pastoralists from cheap food imports. Prioritising cheap food and international markets impedes the ability of smaller, local and marginalised producers to find market opportunities.
- Use mirror analysis to improve accountability in food and agriculture trade flows. Reconciling import and export data for meat, dairy and seafood can help identify fraud and other trade violations perpetrated by multinational corporations.

Local Food Systems

- Engage stakeholders in an inclusive process to identify and implement policies to protect food sovereignty. Marginalised and underrepresented producers and communities smallholders, pastoralists, peasants, small-scale fishers, women, youth, Indigenous peoples and people of colour must be involved in the creation and implementation of local food policies and programmes.
- Tackle gender and racial inequalities in the agrifood systems in a comprehensive way. This includes production, distribution and consumption. Reducing inequalities in access to land, resources and assets experienced by women and people of colour is mandatory for more just and sustainable agrifood systems. Examples may include addressing the lack of reliable data disaggregated by gender; changing discriminatory norms; securing land tenure; bridging language, digital and literacy divides; and improving social protection programmes such as education and childcare.
- Adopt policies that prioritise local economic growth across the food system. Such policies can include promoting local innovation, localised certification standards, directing subsidies to local producers, creating new supply chains and markets, and supporting local control of value chain infrastructure.

- Reform purchasing policies to break up procurement monopolies. Government procurement policies can require purchasing from local and regional producers and can incentivise purchasing from those using agroecological practices. Brazil's Food Procurement Programme exclusively purchases produce from family farmers for communities in need. This creates a guaranteed institutional market for family farmers and the ability to invest in and diversify their crops, while increasing access to healthy regional foods¹⁹⁴.
- Address intentionally food-deprived areas by increasing access to fresh food. Governments can remove barriers to grocery stores operating in low-income, low-access neighborhoods and offer tax incentives to build grocery stores in communities where they are needed most. Increasing support for farmers markets, community-supported agriculture programmes, community and school gardens and other urban agriculture initiatives can increase food sovereignty and availability and access to fresh food.
- **Prevent the expansion of fast food establishments.** Ending public subsidies for fast food companies and implementing zoning regulations that limit or ban fast food establishments, restrict the number or density of fast food outlets, or regulate the proximity of fast food to sites such as schools or hospitals can help protect local markets for healthy, nutritious food in the Global North and safeguard local food systems in the Global South.
- Increase support for regional production and protection of local food systems. Providing financial, regulatory and technical support for regional food hubs along with public outreach campaigns in support of local producers can help increase both the availability and markets for local food.
- Improve regulation of private procurement practices to ensure fair payment to local food producers. Stronger regulatory frameworks for purchasing by grocery stores, food service companies, restaurants and other businesses can ensure that smallholders, small-scale fishers and pastoralists have more opportunities and receive fair payment in these sectors.

Lever 2: Policies to shift towards agroecological practices

Financial justice

Increase funding for land access and ownership for marginalised farmers including women, Indigenous peoples, ethnic minorities and people of colour. Land acquisition and retention is a significant barrier to shifting to agroecology. Government funding should include technical assistance for applying for funding, returning stolen land to Indigenous peoples and tribes and establishing land co-ops and land trusts led by people of colour.

- Improve access to funding for smallholders, small-scale fishers, pastoralists, rural women and people of colour. Those who want to transition and small-scale producers using agroecological practices have often been marginalised and face barriers to receiving financial assistance. Governments can improve access to fair credit, loans, grants and other financial aid. Governments can also provide support to facilitate investments by increasing staff support for the application process, reducing paperwork and scheduling application periods during down seasons.
- Implement inclusive processes for access to and distribution of financial assistance. Language, literacy, age discrimination, disabilities and the digital divide can create additional barriers to small-scale farmers accessing government funding that would otherwise be available to them. Government agencies should invest in improving their understanding of community needs and the accessibility and inclusivity of their processes and programmes.
- Redirect subsidies and other financial incentives towards producers transitioning to agroecological practices. Financial assistance can help remove the barriers associated with the costs of transitioning production practices and diversifying crops. Subsidies can also be used to increase the market for agroecological and organic products to support widespread adoption of these practices.
- Increase resilience of smallholders, pastoralists and small producers against extreme weather events by increasing access to farming insurance. Farming insurance is an emerging tool providing smallholders with the security to replant in the next season despite current crop failures, or helping them replace animals lost during extreme weather events.
- Establish strategic grain reserves and other supply management programmes to ensure fair prices for smallholder farmers. In addition to eliminating feed subsidies, supply management makes larger producers pay market costs, supports fair prices for smaller producers, improves job security and increases resilience.
- Provide incentives and technical support to help meat, dairy and seafood producers to shift to plant-based production. Governments and technical agencies can support companies, investors, and farm workers transitioning from animal production to plant-based production. In Denmark, where 70% of agricultural land is used to grow animal feed, the government allocated 580 million kroner to pay bonuses to Danish farmers who grow plant-based protein for human consumption ¹⁹⁵.
- Link climate and development funding to the guiding principles of agroecology. Agroecological principles should be mainstreamed into

environmental and development agreements to ensure equity and sustainability are integrated into related funding and policies.

- Invest in local infrastructures based on community needs. Local and regional infrastructure needs to support agroecological production, land ownership, distribution and markets will vary at different levels and in different locations and must be identified in consultation with local communities, including marginalised stakeholders.
- **Provide financial support for entrepreneurs and small businesses in rural areas.** Fostering thriving rural communities improves access to information, services and markets for smallholders, pastoralists and farmers transitioning to agroecological practices. Investing in rural communities can also aid the transition from industrial animal production facilities to a more resilient, diversified and just local economy.
- **Implement participatory budgeting and planning for food and agriculture programmes.** Participatory budgeting engages community stakeholders in deciding how to spend part of the public budget, including evaluation of the process. More than 7,000 cities around the world use participatory budgeting to decide municipal, agency and institution al budgets¹⁹⁶.
- Provide financial resources to maximise restoration opportunities for former agricultural land. Funds should be allocated for pollution mitigation and land restoration, including rewilding projects, in addition to exploring alternative uses for former agricultural land and ensuring equitable management of changes in land availability.
- Fund research and academic courses to institutionalise agroecology in science and education. Research and extension funding at public institutions should be shifted away from industrial animal production to identifying research gaps and increasing knowledge of and resources for scaling up agroecological production and farm transitions. This includes shifting the priorities of land-grant colleges and universities and those of the CGIAR centres to agroecology and prioritising farmer-led research that is co-created and co-implemented with community stakeholders.
- Implement the true cost accounting for food and agriculture. Working with economists to identify and quantify the environmental, social, public health and animal welfare costs of food systems would better inform agricultural and economic policy interventions and improve public understanding of the true costs of food production.

Accountability and governance

- Recognise and support land tenure for Indigenous peoples, women, and people of colour. Support Indigenous and other ethnic minority claims to

land, including the recognition of land-based farming and livelihood practices to establish tenure rights and legal recognition of women's tenure over household land.

- Implement policy coherence across agencies and agreements that have direct or indirect impacts on food systems. Food and agriculture policies and programmes should be aligned with environmental, human rights and development commitments and processes, including economic recovery and growth plans, and coordinated across agencies such as agriculture, health and environment.
- Ensure and enforce labour rights and living wages for all food and agriculture workers. Equalise labour laws to make sure farmworkers and other food chain workers are covered by all worker protection and fair wage laws. Implement policies in accordance with the Worker-Driven Social Responsibility Model to ensure legally-binding signed agreements with a code of protection, employer accountability, worker-to-worker education, third party audits, and a living wage paid to each worker.
- Strengthen animal welfare standards in agroeocology assessment tools including the FAO's Tool for Agroecology Performance Evaluation (TAPE) framework. The animal welfare standards in TAPE should be aligned with FARMS¹⁹⁷.
- Establish clear biodiversity metrics for food and agriculture policies and programmes. In addition to emissions-reduction and deforestation-free targets, food and agriculture policies and programmes should include measurable science-based goals for protecting and promoting native plants and animals and ecosystem health.
- Implement initiatives to reduce food loss and waste that include environmental metrics. Food loss and waste policies and programmes must measure environmental outcomes with an emphasis on tracking and measuring waste from animal products.
- Recognise food as a human right and explore the development of programmes that reject the commodification of food. Governments can officially acknowledge food as nourishment and as a universal human right. Alongside this recognition, they can explore the development and expansion of community-driven, non-monetary values within the food system, such as mutual aid programmes.

Producer Support

- Improve access to and control over land and other resources for smallholders, peasants and pastoralists, particularly Indigenous, women, people of colour and other marginalised farmers. Enact measures to empower

smallholders to access and control land, water, seeds and other productive resources. This includes prioritising smallholder access to land by capping land acquisitions, removing speculative capital and financial actors from land markets, and rejecting land-based carbon offset schemes while supporting alternative forms of land ownership and access such as the commons, cooperatives and other group ownership and financing models. Governments should also build integrated land, environmental, and food systems governance to stop land- and resource-grabbing, defend Indigenous territories, and construct secure, equitable and long-term access to land by communities.

- Expand employment support, technical assistance and funded training for transitioning to agroecology. Increase job opportunities and training for equally well-paying jobs for people across the food system, including farmers, smallholders, slaughterhouse workers, agricultural communities and seasonal workers, and cover transition costs and income losses. Government agencies can remove barriers for women, Indigenous, people of colour and other marginalised farmers with additional technical assistance including subsidising soil and water testing, getting certifications, and making government-support programmes and tools more accessible. Training can also include building skills and knowledge in animal welfare and sustainability practices.
- Increase access to healthcare services for people employed across the food system. Many farm workers and slaughterhouse workers currently lack access to any healthcare, while many workers and farmers struggle with mental health. Policies and programmes are needed to expand access to comprehensive healthcare and mental health support across the sector.
- Establish women-led participatory processes in food and agriculture spaces. The unique experiences of women in agriculture need to be considered as part of advancing agroecology. These processes can include gathering data, knowledge sharing, improving access to resources for producers and creating ways to address gender inequity in agriculture.
- Establish preferential trading conditions for smallholders, small-scale fishers and pastoralists. As trade policies can hold multinational corporations accountable, they can also be used to increase equity and support for local and regional food systems.
- Increase market support for food produced using agroecological practices. Initiatives that help promote products and educate consumers, such as certification, labelling and procurement policies, can help open up markets for farmers using agroecological practices, particularly women, Indigenous people, people of colour and other marginalised producers.
- Invest in agroecology case studies from the ground in the Global South. More research is needed into how agroecology can feed countries in

different regions. The FAO TAPE framework can be used to measure the performance of agroecological systems and create a baseline for monitoring and evaluation¹⁹⁸.

- **Increase support for urban agriculture**. Policies that specifically support urban agriculture can increase food sovereignty and availability and access to healthy and nutritious food. Governments can end regulations that restrict people's ability to grow food, enact policies that support gardens instead of lawns, increase access to land for community gardens, and fund Black, Indigenous and people of colour-led urban agriculture programmes. Cuba has been a leader in urban agriculture with an estimated 383,000 urban farms supplying 40–60% or more of all the fresh vegetables in cities using agroecological methods¹⁹⁹.
- Provide support for peer-to-peer learning and capacity building, such as farmer-to-farmer networks and platforms. Governments can provide financial and administrative support and institutional and political recognition of farmer-led organisations that promote best practices and innovation in agroecology, while respecting their autonomy. Farmer-led democratic organisations with open, voluntary membership help increase inclusion, knowledge sharing, capacity building and cooperation among farmers, researchers and policymakers.
- Increase support for community-driven and farmer-led economic models such as food and land co-ops. Cooperative models operate for the benefit of their members instead of outside investors or corporate interests, creating shared resources and prosperity. This also includes bringing land from private back to public ownership and protecting the commons. The commons involves cooperatively managed land supporting small-scale or subsistence farming that benefits food sovereignty and the shared interests of the community; in contrast, when agribusiness land grabbing expansions target the commons, the land use shifts towards industrial production with negative social, economic, and environmental consequences.

Public Education

- Create public education initiatives to build support for agroecology. Government agencies should work with healthcare professionals and institutions to develop education and outreach programmes to increase knowledge about the health benefits of agroecologically-produced products for people, animals and the planet. Elevating traditional regional foods can strengthen community buy-in for dietary shifts while improving public health. Public education should also emphasise the benefits of agroecology as a tool for increasing farmer and climate resilience

- Engage veterinarian and animal professionals in promoting animal welfare to support food security. Although they are often relied upon for health advice, veterinarian doctors²⁰⁰ often lack training in animal welfare, while livestock technicians are rarely trained in the overlap between health, welfare and sustainable production. Closing these education gaps will increase public understanding of the benefits of animal welfare in ensuring food security and safety.²⁰¹
- **Add agroecology labels to food**. Mandating food labels to reveal agroecological principles in production would enhance public understanding of food impacts. Studies have shown that informing consumers by using on -package labels influence their purchasing decisions²⁰².

Lever 3: Policies enabling a shift towards diets within planetary and social boundaries

Financial justice

- Reform agricultural subsidies. Direct and indirect government subsidies for industrial animal production should be repurposed and shifted towards making ecologically produced whole plant and plant-based foods produced by smallholders, small producers and Micro, Small & Medium Enterprises and cooperatives and marginalised farmers more widely available, accessible and affordable, particularly in high-consuming countries, and supporting humane, sustainable, and agroecological livestock production in the Global South.
- Incentivise plant protein agriculture. Funding such as tax breaks and direct investments can be used to incentivise increased production and availability of agroecological, local, and plant-based protein as well as transitional farms to support producers moving from industrial systems towards agroecological production. In 2021 Canada announced an investment of more than \$4.3 million in the expansion of markets for pulses, to meet growing consumer demand and promote healthy soil management²⁰³.
- Incentivise agroecological, integrated livestock systems. Funding such as loans and direct investments can be used to incentivise the transition to agroecological, high-welfare, integrated livestock systems with reduced herd sizes in high-consuming countries that meet specific, science-based metrics and standards for minimising greenhouse gas emissions and promoting biodiversity, and to support pastoralists in the Global South.
- Pay producers to retire and rewild land previously used for industrial meat and dairy production. Government funding programmes can support

farmers with long-term funding and technical assistance to convert land used for pasture and feed crops into native habitats that can store carbon and restore nature.

- Invest in programmes to bring back ancient crops, increase access to seeds, and support seed banks. Just four companies control more than two-thirds of global seed sales, threatening crop diversity, the existence of ancient crops, and the resilience of our food system²⁰⁴. Breaking up corporate concentration and increasing access to a diversity of seeds is necessary for equitable livelihoods, food system resilience, and food sovereignty²⁰⁵.
- Incentivise farmers markets to increase availability of fresh food and food sovereignty. Governments can support the establishment of farmers markets, particularly in low-access areas, to increase the availability of fresh food and incentivise the participation of marginalised farmers to increase their access to markets and their ability to sell in their own communities. In addition, programmes that double the value of nutrition assistance benefits at farmers markets increase the affordability of fresh food in low-income, low-access areas.
- Incentivise healthy diets within planetary and social boundaries. Governments can encourage purchases of fresh fruit and vegetables and plant-based proteins through programmes that increase the price parity and affordability of plant-based foods, increase available funds for these foods in assistance programmes, and provide grants for innovative programmes such as produce prescriptions. Governments can also use their own purchasing power through procurement programmes that focus on plant-based foods. In 2022, Brazil changed the classification of domestically produced plant-based milks, zeroing their tax rate and closing the price gap between it and dairy milk²⁰⁶.

Accountability and governance

- Align trade policies with food and agriculture policies and goals. As domestic consumption shifts towards diets within planetary and social boundaries, governments must ensure that corresponding production shifts are not offset by increased exports; if production shifts faster than consumer demand, similar measures must be taken to ensure it is not offset by increased imports of industrial meat, dairy and seafood. Trade policies must also be brought into line with the principles above.
- Integrate food and nutrition security in development goals and outcomes. Diets within planetary and social boundaries advance food and nutrition security while improving public health, mitigating pollution and increasing community resilience, making them a critical part of meeting several SDGs.
- End government-supported promotions of industrial animal proteins.

 The public resources used to provide financial, administrative help and advertising

or other support for promoting animal proteins, such as the US commodity checkoff programmes that provide research and marketing for sectors such as beef and dairy, should be eliminated or shifted to plant-based foods and food produced using agroecological practices.

- Track and report consumption-based emissions for food and agriculture using a comprehensive lifecycle analysis. The Coolfood Pledge, an initiative of the World Resources Institute, works with institutions to set a target of reducing food-related emissions by 25% by 2030, using a peer-reviewed methodology that accounts for both agricultural supply chain emissions and carbon opportunity costs (e.g. land-use change)²⁰⁷.
- Hold corporations accountable for overproduction and food waste. The FAO estimates that more than one-third of food produced for human consumption is lost or wasted at an annual cost of over \$1 trillion US, with an additional \$700 billion US in environmental costs and \$900 billion US in social costs. Agricultural policies that distort the market incentivise overproduction and shift the environmental and social burden of food waste onto individuals and communities. Instead, corporations should be held accountable for the externalised costs of overproduction and improving supply management and distribution.
- **Regulate marketing of meat and dairy.** In 2015, the WHO's International Agency for Research on Cancer classified consumption of processed meat and red meat as 'carcinogenic' and 'probably carcinogenic' respectively²⁰⁹. More recently, the WHO issued a guideline in 2023 recommending mandatory regulations for marketing food high in saturated fatty acids to children under the age of 18²¹⁰; the HEART UK Association states that foods high in saturated fat include beef, lamb, pork, oily fish and dairy²¹¹.
- Advance regulatory frameworks to ensure accountability and transparency in the alternative protein sector. Proactively addressing regulatory issues for the growing alternative protein sector can help protect workers, encourage open sourcing, and ensure accountability for potential environmental and social impacts related to scaling up the industry. Additionally, strengthened regulatory and antitrust rules should be put in place to prevent market consolidation or anti-competitive behaviour.

Dietary Guidance and Procurement

- Align FBDGs with the Paris Agreement and other sustainability priorities. Integrating environmental goals with dietary recommendations can play a significant role in improving public health and food security. The Danish Government recently updated its FBDGs to reduce its climate footprint by 70% by 2030, reducing the suggested intake of meat from 500g to 350g per week and

recommending at least 100g of plant-based protein come from legumes (e.g. chickpeas, lentils and beans) each day²¹².

- Update national/federal, state and municipal government procurement policies to emphasise diets within planetary and social boundaries, food waste reduction and purchasing culturally-appropriate and regional and seasonal foods. In France, the current French school catering regulations require meals without meat or fish to be served at least once a week (i.e. four to five meals out of 20) in all nurseries and primary schools²¹³. Several major cities including Copenhagen, Lima, Paris and Seoul have joined the C40 Good Food Cities Accelerator, making a commitment to align procurement with the Planetary Health Diet, with an emphasis on organic foods, a reduction of food loss and waste by 50%, and support for an increase of healthy plant-based food consumption ²¹⁴.
- Update policies governing procurement programmes to support the prioritisation of sourcing from producers with strong worker protection agreements and high environmental protection and animal welfare standards. Government procurement programmes should be allowed and encouraged to prioritise working with producers that ensure safe workplaces, livable wages, and other worker protections, including the ability to sign agreements with Worker-driven Social Responsibility programmes. Procurement programmes should also prioritise producers that uphold strong, science-based environmental protection commitments and practices as well as high animal welfare standards throughout their supply chain.
- Increase availability of culturally appropriate, plant-centred meals in all public and private institutions' food policies and programmes (e.g. schools, hospitals, prisons). Provide financial and technical support to help embed plant-centred menus into school food programmes and procurement policies, including the development of traditional and culturally-diverse meals to ensure inclusivity. The Healthy Future Students and Earth Pilot Program Act introduced in the US would create a voluntary grant programme to help schools purchase more plant-based foods, train food service staff, and market healthier, climate-friendly, and culturally appropriate plant-based options to students²¹⁵.
- Promote consumption of local foods produced using agroecological practices. School meal programmes and other procurement policies should prioritise and incentivise sourcing foods from producers using agroecological practices while reducing the proportion of industrially-produced foods.
- Provide government funding and technical assistance to help institutions shift towards culturally-appropriate, plant-centred food service. Incentivise and provide support for institutions to update procurement policies to emphasise inclusive, plant-centred menus and better plant-based options.

Public Education

- Create public education initiatives to build support for diets within planetary and social boundaries and reconnect with traditional foodways. Government agencies, community groups, schools, and the media all play an important role in educating the public. Policymakers should help facilitate collaboration between agencies, educators, experts, grassroots groups and community-led initiatives. Programmes to raise awareness about the health benefits of diets within planetary and social boundaries and the importance of shifting away from meat- and dairy-heavy diets in high-consuming countries can help improve public health, build skills around plant-rich cooking for families and chefs, reclaim ancestral food systems, increase familiarity with traditional and regional foods, and strengthen community buy-in for dietary shifts.
- Engage health and nutrition professionals in promoting healthy diets within planetary and social boundaries. Although they are often relied upon for dietary advice, doctors often lack training in nutrition and dietitians are rarely trained in the overlap between health and diets within planetary and social boundaries. Closing these education gaps will increase public understanding of the benefits of dietary shifts and how to achieve them.
- **Expand environmental and nutrition education programmes in schools.** There is a close relationship between childhood nutrition and academic performance²¹⁶. In addition to providing universal healthy, sustainable meals, schools can educate children on healthy eating, local food systems, traditional foodways, and the environmental impact of food to help instill lifelong habits and dispel industry-driven misperceptions about food and nutrition. Educational programmes can include classroom lessons and hands-on learning through school gardens and building cooking skills.
- Develop gender-sensitive training programmes to improve access to plant-based agriculture for women farmers. Address the gender gap in agriculture to increase plant-based production by supporting women farmers in accessing resources, technical assistance, and markets for plant-based production with training programmes that address gender-specific experiences.
- Add environmental-impact labels to food. Requiring food labels to disclose environmental metrics such as the greenhouse gas emissions associated with production would increase public awareness about the impacts of different foods. Researchers found that climate information on menus had a positive influence on both customers and restaurants²¹⁷.

⁶ EUROPEAN COORDINATION VIA CAMPESINA. Peasant Agroecology according to ECVC.https://www.eurovia.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/04/Agroecology_EN.pdf (Accessed 24 August 2023)

⁷ GFI. Defining alternative proteins. https://gfi.org/defining-alternative-protein/(Accessed 24 August 2023)

8 IPES-Food. 2022. The politics of proteins.https://www.ipes

food.org/_img/upload/files/ProteinExecSummary.pdf

- ⁹ GFI. Defining alternative proteins. https://gfi.org/defining-alternative-protein/(Accessed 20 October 2023)
- ¹⁰ CNBC. 2023. U.S. regulators approve sale of cell-cultured chicken by two startups
- ¹¹ Sinke, P., Swartz, E., Sanctorum, H., van der Giesen, C., & Odegard, I. (2023). Ex-ante life cycle assessment of commercial-scale cultivated meat production in 2030. *The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment*, 28(3), 234-254.
- ¹² EAT-Lancet, EAT-Lancet Commission Brief for Everyone, https://eatforum.org/lancet-commission/eatinghealthyandsustainable/ (accessed 13 May 2024)
- ¹³ Just Transition Alliance,

https://jtalliance.org/what-is-just-transition/

- ¹⁴ Amanda Alberga Machado, Sarah A. Edwards, Melissa Mueller, Vineet Saini, Effective interventions to increase routine childhood immunization coverage in low socioeconomic status communities in developed countries: A systematic review and critical appraisal of peer-reviewed literature, Vaccine, Volume 39, Issue 22, 2021, Pages 2938-2964, ISSN 0264-410X, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2021.03.088.
- ¹⁵ Fardet, A. (2017). New Concepts and Paradigms for the Protective Effects of Plant-Based Food Components in Relation to Food Complexity. Vegetarian and Plant-Based Diets in Health and Disease Prevention, 293–312. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-803968-7.00016-2
- 16 IDS & IPES-Food, 2022. Agroecology, regenerative agriculture, and nature-based solutions: Competing framings of food system sustainability in global policy and funding spaces.

SmokeAndMirrors BackgroundStudy.pdf (ipes-food.org)

¹⁷World Resources Institute & World Business Council for Sustainable Development, 2013. Technical Guidance for Calculating Scope 3 Emissions Supplement to the Corporate Value Chain (Scope 3) Accounting & Reporting Standard.

https://ghgprotocol.org/sites/default/files/standards/Scope3 Calculation Guidance 0.pdf

¹⁸ Benton TG, Bieg C, Harwatt H, et al. (2021, February 3). Food system impacts on biodiversity loss: Three levers for food system transformation in support of nature. Chatham House Research Paper.

https://www.chathamhouse.org/2021/02/food-system-impacts-biodiversity-loss

19 Clark M, Domingo N, Colgan K, et al. (2020). Global food system emissions could preclude achieving the
 1.5° and 2°C climate change targets. Science; 370: 705-708. https://www.doi.org/10.1126/science.aba7357
 20 OECD-FAO Agricultural Outlook 2022-2031

https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/sites/ab129327-en/index.html?itemId=/content/component/ab129327-en#section-d1e24474 (accessed 01 June 2023)

¹ Harwatt, H. Hayek, M.N. Behrens, P. and Ripple, W.J. (2024) Options for a Paris compliant livestock sector. Timeframes, targets and trajectories for livestock sector emissions from a survey of climate scientists. Research report, Brooks McCormick Jr. Animal Law & Policy Program, Harvard Law School. March 2024. Available at: https:// animal.law.harvard.edu/wp-content/uploads/P aris-compliant-livestock-report.pdf

https://newrepublic.com/article/163735/myth-regenerative-ranching

³ https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2211912420300584?via%3Dihub

⁴ Garnett, T., Godde, C., Muller, A., Röös, E., Smith, P., De Boer, I. J. M., ... & Van Zanten, H. H. E. (2017). Grazed and confused?: ruminating on cattle, grazing systems, methane, nitrous oxide, the soil carbon sequestration question-and what it all means for greenhouse gas emissions. FCRN.

⁵ Just Transition Alliance, https://jtalliance.org/what-is-just-transition

²¹OECD-FAO Agricultural Outlook 2023-2032 https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/docserver/08801ab7-en.pdf?expires=1692368272&id=id&accname=guest&checksum=6846AE9C21A8C696A6BA8D677FBCDB92 (Accessed 18 August 2023)

- ²²idem
- ²³ idem
- ²⁴ idem
- ²⁵ United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (1992).

https://unfccc.int/resource/docs/convkp/conveng.pdf. (Accessed 26 July 2023).

²⁶ FAO. 2012 Livestock sector development for poverty reduction: an economic and policy perspective – Livestock's many virtues, by J. Otte, A. Costales, J. Dijkman, U. Pica-Ciamarra, T. Robinson, V. Ahuja, C. Ly and D. Roland-Holst. Rome, pp. 161

http://www.fao.org/3/i2744e/i2744e00.pdf (Accessed 24 May 2023)

²⁷ FAO. 2018. World Livestock: Transforming the livestock sector through the Sustainable Development Goals. Rome. 222 pp. https://doi.org/10.4060/ca1201en. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.

fao.org/3/ca1201en/ca1201en.pdf

²⁸ FAO. 2021. Decent Rural Employment: Livestock http://www.fao.org/rural-employment/agricultural-sub-sectors/livestock/en/ (Accessed 24

April 2023)

- ²⁹ Jägermeyr, J., Müller, C., Ruane, A. C., Elliott, J., Balkovic, J., Castillo, O., ... & Rosenzweig, C. (2021). Climate impacts on global agriculture emerge earlier in new generation of climate and crop models. Nature Food, 2(11), 873-885.
- ³⁰ IPCC, 2023: Sections. In: Climate Change 2023: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Core Writing Team, H. Lee and J. Romero (eds.)]. IPCC, Geneva, Switzerland, pp. 35-115, doi: 10.59327/IPCC/AR6-9789291691647.
- ³¹ Thornton, P., Nelson, G., Mayberry, D., & Herrero, M. (2022). Impacts of heat stress on global cattle production during the 21st century: a modelling study. The Lancet Planetary Health, 6(3), e192 -e201. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S2542-5196(22)00002-X
- ³² Cheng, M., McCarl, B., & Fei, C. 2022. Climate Change and Livestock Production: A Literature Review. Atmosphere 2022, Vol. 13, Page 140, 13(1), 140. https://doi.org/10.3390/ATMOS13010140
- ³³ Thornton, P. K. 2010. Livestock production: Recent trends, future prospects. In Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences (Vol. 365, Issue 1554, pp. 2853 –2867). Royal Society. doi: https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2010.0134
- ³⁴ HLPE. 2016. Sustainable agricultural development for food security and nutrition: what roles for livestock? A report by the High Level Panel of Experts on Food Security and Nutrition of the Committee on World Food Security, Rome. Sustainable agricultural development for food security and nutrition: what roles for livestock? (fao.org)
- ³⁵ McKeon, N. (2020). 'Getting to the root causes of migration' in West Africa—whose history, framing and agency counts?. In Migration, Civil Society and Global Governance (pp. 140-155). Routledge. doi: https://doi.org/10.1080/14747731.2018.1503842
- ³⁶ IPES-Food. 2023. Who's Tipping the Scales? The growing influence of corporations on the governance of food systems, and how to counter it. tippingthescales.pdf (ipes-food.org)
- ³⁷ FAO. "Sustainable livestock and climate change in Latin America and the Caribbean. <u>Sustainable livestock</u> farming and climate change in Latin America and the Caribbean | FAO Regional Office for Latin America and the Caribbean | Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (Accessed 18 August 2023)
- ³⁸ FAO. 2017. Atlas De Las Mujeres Rurales De América Latina Y El Caribe: "Al tiempo de la vida y los hechos" Atlas de la Mujer Rural en América Latina y el Caribe (fao.org) (Accessed 18 August 2023)
- ³⁹ Vicol, M., Fold, N., Hambloch, C., Narayanan, S., & Pérez Niño, H. 2022. Twenty-five years of Living Under Contract: Contract farming and agrarian change in the developing world. Journal of Agrarian Change, 22(1), 3–18. https://doi.org/10.1111/joac.12471

- ⁴⁰ Marks, D. 2022. The Contract Farming Promotion and Development Act (2017) of Thailand: Origins and impacts to date. MRLG Thematic Study Series #12. Vientiane: MRLG.
- ⁴¹ idem
- ⁴² FAO. 2022. The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture 2022. Towards Blue Transformation. Rome, FAO. doi: https://doi.org/10.4060/cc0461en
- ⁴³ Gonzalez Parrao, C., Shisler, S., Moratti, M., Yavuz, C., Acharya, A., Eyers, J., & Snilstveit, B. (2021). Aquaculture for improving productivity, income, nutrition and women's empowerment in low- and middle-income countries: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Campbell systematic reviews, 17(4), e1195. doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/cl2.1195
- ⁴⁴ OECD. 2008. Natural Resources and Pro-Poor Growth: The Economics and Politics (Chapter 6). <u>Natural Resources and Pro-Poor Growth (oecd-ilibrary.org)</u>
- Doumbouya, A., Camara, O. T., Mamie, J., Intchama, J. F., Jarra, A., Ceesay, S., ... & Belhabib, D. (2017).
 Assessing the effectiveness of monitoring control and surveillance of illegal fishing: The case of West Africa.
 Frontiers in Marine Science, 4, 50. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmars.2017.00050/full
 Taluja, M. K., Gupta, V., Sharma, G., & Arora, J. S. (2019). Respiratory Hazards to Occupational Exposure of
- Poultry Dust in Poultry Farm Workers in Northern India. Indian J Physiol Pharmacol, 63(3), 223-230. https://www.ijpp.com/IJPP%20archives/2019_63_3/223-230.pdf
- ⁴⁷ Bennani, H., Mateus, A., Mays, N., Eastmure, E., Stärk, K. D., & Häsler, B. (2020). Overview of evidence of antimicrobial use and antimicrobial resistance in the food chain. Antibiotics, 9(2), 49.doi: https://doi.org/10.3390/antibiotics9020049
- ⁴⁸ US Government Accountability Office (GAO)., Workplace Safety and Health: Better Outreach, Collaboration, and Information Needed to Help Protect Workers at Meat and Poultry Plants, GAO -18-12 (2017), available at http://www.gao.gov/assets/690/688294.pdf.
- ⁴⁹ Fred Gerr. 2021. Meatpacking plant workers: A case study of a precarious workforce, Journal of Occupational and Environmental Hygiene, 18:4-5, 154-158, doi: 10.1080/15459624.2021.1895997
 ⁵⁰ European Federation of Food, Agriculture and Tourism Trade Unions (EFFAT). 2020, 30 June. Covid -19 outbreaks in slaughterhouses and meat processing plants: State of affairs and proposals for policy action at EU level. https://effat.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/EFFAT-Report-Covid-19-outbreaks-in-slaughterhouses-and-meat-packing-plants-Stateof-affairs-and-proposals-for-policy-action-at-EU-level-30.06.2020.pdf
- ⁵¹ Human Rights Watch (HRW). 2019, September 4. Workers' Rights Under Threat in US Meat and Poultry Plants. https://www.hrw.org/report/2019/09/04/when-were-dead-and-buried-our-bones-will-keep-hurting/workers-rights-under-threat
- ⁵² Slade, J., & Alleyne, E. 2023. The Psychological Impact of Slaughterhouse Employment: A Systematic Literature Review. Trauma, Violence, & Abuse, 24(2), 429–440. doi: https://doi.org/10.1177/15248380211030243
- ⁵³ Comisión Económica para América Latina y el Caribe (CEPAL), Organización de las Naciones Unidas para la Agricultura y la Alimentación (FAO), Instituto Interamericano de Cooperación para la Agricultura (IICA), 2019. Perspectivas de la agricultura y del desarrollo rural en las Américas: una mirada hacia América Latina y el Caribe 2019-2020. https://repositorio.cepal.org/bitstream/handle/11362/45111/1/CEPAL -FAO2019-2020_es.pdf
- ⁵⁴ ILO. Forced labour and human trafficking in fisheries. https://www.ilo.org/global/topics/forced-labour/policy-areas/fisheries/lang--en/index.htm
- ⁵⁵ Poore, J., & Nemecek, T. 2018. Reducing food's environmental impacts through producers and consumers. Science, 360(6392), 987–992. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaq0216
- ⁵⁶ Mongabay. 2013. Despite lawsuit, Casino Group still sells beef from Amazonian Indigenous territory. https://news.mongabay.com/2023/07/despite-lawsuit-casino-group-still-sells-beef-from-an-amazonian-indigenous-

land/#:~:text=In%20March%202021%2C%20a%20lawsuit,located%20in%20the%20Burareiro%20area

- ⁵⁷ Participants at the "Livestock Diversity Forum". (2007, September 6). Wilderswil declaration on livestock diversity. http://www.ukabc.org/wilderswil.pdf
- ⁵⁸ Wittman H.2011.Food sovereignty. A new rights framework for food and nature? Environ Soc Adv Res 2:87. https://doi.org/10.3167/ares.2011.020106
- ⁵⁹ Mooney, P., 2018. Blocking the chain: Industrial food chain concentration, Big Data platforms and food sovereignty solutions.
- https://www.etcgroup.org/sites/www.etcgroup.org/files/files/blockingthechain english web.pdf
- ⁶⁰ Ricciardi, V., Ramankutty, N., Mehrabi, Z., Jarvis, L., & Chookolingo, B. (2018). How much of the world's food do smallholders produce?. Global food security, 17, 64-72
- ⁶¹ FAO. "Sustainable livestock and climate change in Latin America and the Caribbean. <u>Sustainable livestock</u> farming and climate change in Latin America and the Caribbean | FAO Regional Office for Latin America and the Caribbean | Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (Accessed 18 August 2023)
- 62 Comisión Económica para América Latina y el Caribe (CEPAL), Organización de las Naciones Unidas para la Agricultura y la Alimentación (FAO), Instituto Interamericano de Cooperación para la Agricultura (IICA), 2021. Perspectivas de la Agricultura y del Desarrollo Rural en las Américas: una mirada hacia América Latina y el Caribe 2021-2022. PERSPECTIVAS DE LA AGRICULTURA Y DEL DESARROLLO RURAL EN LAS AMÉRICAS (cepal.org)
- 63 Comisión Económica para América Latina y el Caribe (CEPAL), Organización de las Naciones Unidas para la Agricultura y la Alimentación (FAO), Instituto Interamericano de Cooperación para la Agricultura (IICA), 2019. Perspectivas de la agricultura y del desarrollo rural en las Américas: una mirada hacia América Latina y el Caribe 2019-2020. https://repositorio.cepal.org/bitstream/handle/11362/45111/1/CEPAL -FAO2019-2020 es.pdf
- ⁶⁴ Muscat, A., De Olde, E. M., de Boer, I. J., & Ripoll-Bosch, R. 2020. The battle for biomass: A systematic review of food-feed-fuel competition. *Global Food Security*, *25*, 100330. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gfs.2019.100330
- 65 Share of cereals allocated to food, animal feed or fuel. 2020. Our World in Data.
- https://ourworldindata.org/grapher/cereal-allocation-by-country (Accessed 25 August 2023)
- ⁶⁶ Fraanje, W. & Garnett, T. (2020). Soy: food, feed, and land use change. (Foodsource: Building Blocks). Food Climate Research Network, University of Oxford.
- ⁶⁷ FAO. 2022. World Food and Agriculture Statistical Yearbook 2022. Rome.

https://doi.org/10.4060/cc2211en (Accessed 25 August 2023)

- ⁶⁸ Cassidy, E. S., P. C. West, J. S. Gerber, et al. (2013): Redefining agricultural yields: from tonnes to people nourished per hectare. Environmental Research Letters 8(3), 034015. doi: 10.1088/1748-9326/8/3/034015
 ⁶⁹ Babar, M., Ahmad, H., & Yousaf, I. (2023). Returns and volatility spillover between agricultural commodities and emerging stock markets: new evidence from COVID-19 and Russian-Ukrainian war. International Journal of Emerging Markets.
- 70 Aquatic Life Institute. 2021. Interpreting "Blue Loss" and Measuring the Hidden Animals in Our Food System
- https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5e4ff4ae6791c303cbd43f67/t/63d08d7f85293c3340e43b3c/167461 2102713/FMFO+Report+Final+March+2021+updated+2+merged.pdf
- ⁷¹ Sandström, V., Chrysafi, A., Lamminen, M. *et al.* Food system by-products upcycled in livestock and aquaculture feeds can increase global food supply. *Nat Food* 3, 729–740 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1038/s43016-022-00589-6
- ⁷² Aquatic Life Institute. 2021. Interpreting "Blue Loss" and Measuring the Hidden Animals in Our Food System.
- $https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5e4ff4ae6791c303cbd43f67/t/63d08d7f85293c3340e43b3c/167461\\2102713/FMFO+Report+Final+March+2021+updated+2+merged.pdf$
- ⁷³ Cashion, T., Le Manach, F., Zeller, D., & Pauly, D. (2017). Most fish destined for fishmeal production are food-grade fish. Fish and Fisheries, 18(5), 837-844. doi:. https://doi.org/10.1111/faf.12209

⁷⁴ Thiao, D. and Bunting, S.W. 2022. Socio-economic and biological impacts of the fish-based feed industry for sub-Saharan Africa. FAO Fisheries and Aquaculture Circular No. 1236. Rome, FAO, Worldfish and University of Greenwich, Natural Resources Institute. https://doi.org/10.4060/cb7990en

75 FAO. 2022. GLEAM v3 Dashboard. In: Shiny Apps.

https://foodandagricultureorganization.shinyapps.io/GLEAMV3 Public/

- ⁷⁶ Xu, X., Sharma, P., Shu, S., Lin, T. S., Ciais, P., Tubiello, F. N., ... & Jain, A. K. 2021. Global greenhouse gas emissions from animal-based foods are twice those of plant-based foods. Nature Food, 2(9), 724-732. https://doi.org/10.1038/s43016-021-00358-x
- ⁷⁷ Emissions impossible: How big meat and dairy are heating up the planet. 2018. GRAIN and the Institute for Agriculture and Trade Policy (IATP). https://www.iatp.org/emissions-impossible
- ⁷⁸ United Nations Environment Programme and Climate and Clean Air Coalition. 2021. Global Methane Assessment: Benefits and Costs of Mitigating Methane Emissions. Nairobi.

ccacoalition.org/sites/default/files/resources//2021 Global-Methane Assessment full 0.pdf

- ⁷⁹ Hayek, M. N., & Miller, S. M. 2021. Underestimates of methane from intensively raised animals could undermine goals of sustainable development. Environmental Research Letters, 16(6), 063006.
- ⁸⁰ Forster, P. et al., 2021: The Earth's Energy Budget, Climate Feedbacks, and Climate Sensitivity. In Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, doi:10.1017/9781009157896.009 at Table 7.15
- ⁸¹ Emissions impossible: How big meat and dairy are heating up the planet. 2018. GRAIN and the Institute for Agriculture and Trade Policy (IATP). https://www.iatp.org/emissions-impossible
- ⁸²Environmental Working Group.2024. Animal feeding operations harm the environment, climate and public health. https://www.ewg.org/research/animal-feeding-operations-harm-environment-climate-and-public-health (accesed 17 May 2024)
- ⁸³ Scope 3 emissions are the result of activities from assets not owned or controlled by the reporting organisation, but that the organisation indirectly affects in its value chain. Scope 3 emissions include all sources not within an organisation's scope 1 and 2 boundary. The scope 3 emissions for one organisation are the scope 1 and 2 emissions of another organisation. Scope 3 emissions, also referred to as value chain emissions, often represent the majority of an organisation's total greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions. World Resources Institute & World Business Council for Sustainable Development, 2013. Technical Guidance for Calculating Scope 3 Emissions Supplement to the Corporate Value Chain (Scope 3) Accounting & Reporting Standard.

https://ghgprotocol.org/sites/default/files/standards/Scope3 Calculation Guidance 0.pdf

- ⁸⁴ FAIRR. Sustainable Aquaculture Engagement. https://www.fairr.org/engagements/sustainable aquaculture (Accessed 29 June 2023)
- ⁸⁵ Clark, M. A., N. G. G. Domingo, K. Colgan, et al. 2020. Global food system emissions could preclude achieving the 1.5° and 2°C climate change targets. Science 370(6517), 705 –708.doi: 10.1126/science.aba7357
- ⁸⁶ Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Climate Change. 2022. Mitigation of Climate Change, AR6 WG3 report on mitigation IPCC AR6 WGIII FullReport.pdf
- 87 De Schutter, O., Jacobs, N., Clément, C., & Ajena, F. (2019). Towards a Common Food Policy for the European Union: The Policy Reform and Realignment That Is Required to Build Sustainable Food Systems in Europe. IPES-Food. Adopted by the IPES-Food panel in February 2019. CFP FullReport.pdf (ipes-food.org)
 88 Linder A., Wilson McCarthy V., Green C., Nadzam B., Jamieson D., Stilt K.
- (2023). Animal Markets and Zoonotic Disease in the United States. e Brooks McCormick Jr. Animal Law & Policy Program at Harvard and the Center for Environmental and Animal Protection at New York University . https://animal.law.harvard.edu/wp-content/uploads/Animal-Markets-and-Zoonotic-Disease-in-the-United-States.pdf
- ⁸⁹ Dazio, S. May 12, 2023. "California condors confront bird flu in flight from extinction". AP. https://apnews.com/article/california-condors-avian-bird-flu-875b1ed89ce668b757af5bcc5bd4feaf

- ⁹⁰ Winkler, K., Fuchs, R., Rounsevell, M. et al. Global land use changes are four times greater than previously estimated. Nat Commun 12, 2501. 2021. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-22702-2
- ⁹¹ FAO. 2020. Global Forest Resources Assessment 2020 Key findings. Rome. https://doi.org/10.4060/ca8753en
- ⁹² Benton, T. G., Bieg, C., Harwatt, H., Pudasaini, R., & Wellesley, L. 2021. Food system impacts on biodiversity loss. Three levers for food system transformation in support of nature. Chatham House, London. 2021-02-03-food-system-biodiversity-loss-benton-et-al.pdf (chathamhouse.org)
- ⁹³ IPBES. 2019. Global assessment report on biodiversity and ecosystem services of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services. E.S. Brondizio, J. Settele, S. Diaz, and H.T. Ngo (editors). IPBES secretariat, Bonn, Germany. 1148 pages. doi: http://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.3831673
 ⁹⁴ Tiseo K, Huber L, Gilbert M, et al. 2020. Global Trends in Antimicrobial Use in Food Animals from 2017 to 2030. Antibiotics (Basel); 9(12): 918. doi: https://doi.org/10.3390/antibiotics9120918
- ⁹⁵ Van Boeckel TP, Glennon EE, Chen D, et al. 2017. Reducing antimicrobial use in food animals. Science; 29: 1350-1352. doi: https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aao1495
- ⁹⁶ Global trends in antimicrobial use in aquaculture study Schar, D., Klein, E. Y., Laxminarayan, R., Gilbert, M., & Van Boeckel, T. P. 2020. Global trends in antimicrobial use in aquaculture. Scientific reports, 10(1), 21878. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-78849-3
- ⁹⁷ United Nations Environment Programme. 2017. Frontiers 2017: Emerging Issues of Environmental Concern. https://wedocs.unep.org/20.500.11822/22255.
- ⁹⁸ Murray, C. J., Ikuta, K. S., Sharara, F., Swetschinski, L., Aguilar, G. R., Gray, A., ... & Tasak, N. (2022). Global burden of bacterial antimicrobial resistance in 2019: a systematic analysis. The Lancet, 399(10325), 629-655. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(21)02724-0
- ⁹⁹ No Time to Wait: Securing the future from drug-resistant Infections Report to the Secretary-General of the United Nations. 2019, April. Interagency Coordination Group on Antimicrobial Resistance. <u>no-time-to-wait-securing-the-future-from-drug-resistant-infections-en.pdf (who.int)</u>
- World Health Organization. 2020, July 13. Antibiotic resistance. World Health Organization.
 https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/antibiotic-resistance (Accessed 25 August 2023)
 United Nations Environment Programme (2023). Bracing for Superbugs: Strengthening environmental action in the One Health response to antimicrobial resistance. Geneva 8BD24F3E-9038-4DDE-B025-3A97779D9DEA.pdf (ncl.ac.uk)
- ¹⁰² United Nations Environment Programme. 2017. Frontiers 2017: Emerging Issues of Environmental Concern. https://wedocs.unep.org/20.500.11822/22255 (Accessed 25 August 2023)
- ¹⁰³ Eds. Sutton M.A., Howard C.M., Erisman J.W., Billen G., Bleeker A., Grennfelt P., van Grinsven H. and Grizzetti B. 2011. The European Nitrogen Assessment. Cambridge University Press https://assets.cambridge.org/97811070/06126/frontmatter/9781107006126 frontmatter.pdf
- ¹⁰⁴ Environmental Protection Agency. 2021. Preliminary Effluent Guidelines Program Plan 15. Preliminary Effluent Guidelines Program Plan 15. https://www.epa.gov/eg/preliminary-effluent-guidelines-program-plan (Accessed 25 August 2023)
- ¹⁰⁵ Environmental Integrity Project. Burkhart, K., Bernhardt, C., Peloton, T., Schaeffer, E., Phillips, A. 2018. Water Pollution from Slaughterhouses.
- $https://www.environmental integrity.org/wpcontent/uploads/2018/10/Slaughterhouse_Report_Final.pdf.$
- 106 Environmental Protection Agency. 2020. The Effects: Dead Zones and Harmful Algal Blooms
 https://www.epa.gov/nutrientpollution/effects-dead-zones-and-harmful-algal-blooms
 (Accessed 25 August 2023)
- ¹⁰⁷ Wyer, K. E., Kelleghan, D. B., Blanes-Vidal, V., Schauberger, G., & Curran, T. P. 2022. Ammonia emissions from agriculture and their contribution to fine particulate matter: A review of implications for human health. Journal of Environmental Management, 323, 116285.
- doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2022.116285
- ¹⁰⁸ United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP) and International Livestock Research Institute (ILRI). 2020. Preventing the next pandemic: Zoonotic diseases and how to break the chain of transmission.

Nairobi. https://www.unep.org/resources/report/preventing-future-zoonotic-disease-outbreaks-protecting-environment-animals-and (Accessed 25 August 2023)

- ¹⁰⁹ Ozlu, E., Arriaga, F. J., Bilen, S., Gozukara, G., & Babur, E. 2022. Carbon footprint management by agricultural practices. Biology, 11(10), 1453. doi: https://doi.org/10.3390/biology11101453
- ¹¹⁰ Mrunalini, K., Behera, B., Jayaraman, S., Abhilash, P. C., Dubey, P. K., Swamy, G. N., ... & Srinivasa Rao, C. 2022. Nature-based solutions in soil restoration for improving agricultural productivity. Land Degradation & Development, 33(8), 1269-1289. doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/ldr.4207
- ¹¹¹ Center for Biological Diversity and World Animal Protection. 2022. Collateral Damage: How Factory Farming Drives Up the Use of Toxic Agricultural Pesticides.

https://dkt6rvnu67rqj.cloudfront.net/sites/default/files/media/WAP Collateral Damage Report 02 04 22 R3.pdf

- ¹¹² Tsiafouli *et al.* 2015. Intensive agriculture reduces soil biodiversity across Europe. *Global Change Biology*: 21, p 973–985 doi: https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12752
- 113 FAO. 2015. http://www.fao.org/soils-2015/events/detail/en/c/338738/
- ¹¹⁴ Tudi, M., Li, H., Li, H., Wang, L., Lyu, J., Yang, L., ... & Connell, D. 2022. Exposure routes and health risks associated with pesticide application. Toxics, 10(6), 335. doi: https://doi.org/10.3390/toxics10060335
- ¹¹⁵ Boedeker, W., Watts, M., Clausing, P. *et al.* 2020. The global distribution of acute unintentional pesticide poisoning: estimations based on a systematic review. *BMC Public Health* **20**, 1875. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-020-09939-0

- ¹¹⁶ Donley, N., Bullard, R.D., Economos, J. *et al.* 2022. Pesticides and environmental injustice in the USA: root causes, current regulatory reinforcement and a path forward. *BMC Public Health* **22**, 708. doi: https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-022-13057-4
- ¹¹⁷ Atinkut Asmare, B., Freyer, B. and Bingen, J., 2022. Women in agriculture: pathways of pesticide exposure, potential health risks and vulnerability in sub-Saharan Africa. Environmental Sciences Europe, 34(1), pp.1-14. doi:https://doi.org/10.1186/s12302-022-00638-8
- ¹¹⁸World Health Organization 2015. Cancer: Carcinogenicity of the consumption of red meat and processed meat. https://www.who.int/news-room/q-a-detail/cancer-carcinogenicity-of-the-consumption-of-red-meat-and-processed-meat (Accessed 25 August 2023)
- ¹¹⁹ Afshin A, Sur PJ, Fay KA, et al. 2019. Health effects of dietary risks in 195 countries, 1990–2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. The Lancet; 393(10184): 1958-1972. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(19)30041-8
- ¹²⁰ Springmann, M., Godfray, H. C. J., Rayner, M., & Scarborough, P. 2016. Analysis and valuation of the health and climate change cobenefits of dietary change. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 113(15), 4146-4151. doi:https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1523119113
- 121 FAO. 2018. Livestock and agroecology How they can support the transition towards sustainable food and agriculture. https://www.fao.org/3/I8926EN/i8926en.pdf
- 122 Idem
- ¹²³ Crump, A., 2022. Animal sentience science and policy. Animal Sentience, 6(31), p.15. doi: https://doi.org/10.51291/2377-7478.1748
- ¹²⁴ World Animal Protection. 2023. Global Public Health Cost of Antimicrobial Resistance Related to Antibiotic Use on Factory Farms.

https://www.worldanimalprotection.org.in/sites/default/files/media/FINALTechnicalreportGlobalPublicHeal th 0.pdf

- 125 Idem
- ¹²⁶ Mood, A., Lara, E., Boyland, N., & Brooke, P. (2023). Estimating global numbers of farmed fishes killed for food annually from 1990 to 2019. Animal Welfare, 32, E12. doi:10.1017/awf.2023.4
- ¹²⁷ Silbergeld, EK. 2019. One health and the agricultural transition in food animal production. Global Transitions; 1: 83-92. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.glt.2019.01.003
- ¹²⁸ Grandin, T. and Deesing, M.J. 2022. Genetics and animal welfare. In Genetics and the behavior of domestic animals (pp. 507-548). Academic Press. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-85752-9.00013-5

- ¹²⁹ Lambert, H., Cornish, A., Elwin, A., & D'Cruze, N. (2022). A kettle of fish: a review of the scientific literature for evidence of fish sentience. Animals, 12(9), 1182. doi: https://doi.org/10.3390/ani12091182 ¹³⁰ FAO. (2018). Livestock and agroecology How they can support the transition towards sustainable food and agriculture. https://openknowledge.fao.org/server/api/core/bitstreams/ded6e1c7 -68cf-4401-8bb6-2bde2156e144/content
- ¹³¹ Díaz, A.; Navarro, A.; Turiño, M.; Sanchez, V.; Aliod, R.; Sánchez, M. P.; Hernández, P.; Calafat, A. (2022). Food Security at the Crossroads: an Exhausted Model or a Sustainable One? https://www.arc2020.eu/food-security-at-the-crossroads-an-exhausted-model-or-a-sustainable-one/ (Accessed 25 August 2023)
- ¹³² Saget C, Vogt-Schilb A, and Luu T. 2020. Jobs in a Net-Zero Emissions Future in Latin America and the Caribbean. Inter-American Development Bank (IDB) and International Labour Organization (ILO), Washington D.C. and Geneva. https://webapps.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---americas/---ro-lima/documents/publication/wcms 752069.pdf
- ¹³³ Meek, D. 2022. From marginalized to miracle: critical bioregionalism, jungle farming and the move to millets in Karnataka, India. Agric Hum Values 39, 871–883. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10460-021-10287-x ¹³⁴ IIED. 2012. Indigenous food systems prove highly resilient during COVID-19.

https://www.iied.org/indigenous-food-systems-prove-highly-resilient-during-covid-19

- ¹³⁵ Provenza, F. D., Meuret, M., & Gregorini, P. 2015. Our landscapes, our livestock, ourselves: Restoring broken linkages among plants, herbivores, and humans with diets that nourish and satiate. Appetite, 95, 500-519. Doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2015.08.004
- ¹³⁶ FAO. 2022. Food Balance Sheets. License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.
- ¹³⁷ Parlasca, Martin C.and Qaim,M. 2022. <u>Meat Consumption and Sustainability</u>, , Annual Review of Resource Economics,14:1, 17-41
- ¹³⁸ IPES-Food. 2016. From uniformity to diversity: a paradigm shift from industrial agriculture to diversified agroecological systems. International Panel of Experts on Sustainable Food systems. http://www.ipes-food.org/ img/upload/files/UniformityToDiversity FULL.pdf
- ¹³⁹ Terraformation, Meyer V. and Lee L.. 2023. Why Native Forest Restoration Matters https://21080104.fs1.hubspotusercontent-na1.net/hubfs/21080104/white-papers/terraformation-whynative-forest-restoration-matters.pdf
- ¹⁴⁰ IPES-Food. 2016. From uniformity to diversity: a paradigm shift from industrial agriculture to diversified agroecological systems. International Panel of Experts on Sustainable Food systems. http://www.ipes-food.org/ img/upload/files/UniformityToDiversity FULL.pdf
- ¹⁴¹ FAO. The State of Food and Agriculture 2010-11: Women in Agriculture. Closing the Gender Gap for Development. https://fao.org/3/i2050e.pdf
- ¹⁴² FAO, UNDP and UNEP. 2021. A multi-billion-dollar opportunity Repurposing agricultural support to transform

food systems. Rome, FAO. https://doi.org/10.4060/cb6562en

- ¹⁴³ Van der Ploeg, J. D., Barjolle, D., Bruil, J., Brunori, G., Madureira, L. M. C., Dessein, J., ... & Wezel, A. (2019). The economic potential of agroecology: Empirical evidence from Europe. Journal of Rural Studies, 71, 46-61.
- 144 Korže, A. V., & Korže, D. 2018. Agroecology for Our Future. Intl. J of Inspir. & Resil. Econ, 2, 1-10.
- ¹⁴⁵ FAO, IFAD, UNICEF, WFP and WHO. 2023. The State of Food Security and Nutrition in the World 2023. Urbanization, agrifood systems transformation and healthy diets across the rural–urban continuum. Rome, FAO. https://doi.org/10.4060/cc3017en
- ¹⁴⁶ Berry, E.M., Dernini, S., Burlingame, B., Meybeck, A. and Conforti, P. 2015. Food security and sustainability: can one exist without the other? Public health nutrition, 18(13), 2293-2302. https://doi.org/10.1017/S136898001500021X
- ¹⁴⁷ World Food Program USA. Food Waste & Food Loss <u>Food Waste: How the World Food Program Helps</u> <u>Recover Food Loss (wfpusa.org)</u> (Accessed 25 August 2023)

- ¹⁴⁸ FAO. 2019. The State of Food and Agriculture 2019: Moving forward on food loss and waste reduction. Rome
- ¹⁴⁹ United Nations Environment Programme. 2021. Food Waste Index Report 2021. Nairobi.
- ¹⁵⁰ Krishna Bahadur KC, Goretty M. Dias, Anastasia Veeramani. 2018 .When too much isn't enough: Does current food production meet global nutritional needs? Doi: https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0205683 ¹⁵¹ Muscat, A., De Olde, E. M., de Boer, I. J., & Ripoll-Bosch, R. (2020). The battle for biomass: A systematic review of food-feed-fuel competition. Global Food Security, 25, 100330.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gfs.2019.100330

- ¹⁵² IPES-Food. 2016. From uniformity to diversity: a paradigm shift from industrial agriculture to diversified agroecological systems. International Panel of Experts on Sustainable Food systems. http://www.ipes-food.org/ img/upload/files/UniformityToDiversity FULL.pdf
- 153 Coller FAIRR Protein Producer Index. 2022. Coller FAIRR Protein Producer Index 2022/23 | FAIRR
- 154 IPES Food. 2024. Land Squeeze. https://ipes-food.org/report-summary/land-squeeze/
- 155 IPES Food. 2024. Land Squeeze. https://ipes-food.org/report-summary/land-squeeze/
- 156 The American Institute for Economic Research. 2022. The True Cost of a Hamburger.

https://www.aier.org/article/the-true-cost-of-a-hamburger/

- 157 https://www.unep.org/resources/repurposing-agricultural-support-transform-food-syste ms
- ¹⁵⁸ FAO, UNDP and UNEP. 2021. A multi-billion-dollar opportunity Repurposing agricultural support to transform food systems. Rome, FAO. https://doi.org/10.4060/cb6562en
- ¹⁵⁹ Joshi, I., Param, S., & Irene & Gadre, M. (2016).Berkeley University. Sutardja Center for Entrepreneurship & Technology Technical Report. 2015 Saving the Planet The Market for Sustainable Meat Alternatives, https://scet.berkeley.edu/wp-

content/uploads/CopyofFINALSavingThePlanetSustainableMeatAlternatives.pdf

- ¹⁶⁰ Wertz (2020). Farming's growing problem. Fertilizers are contaminating and warming the planet. Regulators haven't acted on decades-old warnings. https://publicintegrity.org/environment/unintended-consequences-farming-fertilizer-climate-health-water-nitrogen/ (Accessed, August 2023)
- ¹⁶¹ Lazarus, O., McDermid, S. and Jacquet, J., 2021. The climate responsibilities of industrial meat and dairy producers. *Climatic Change*, *165*, pp.1-21.
- ¹⁶² Sumauma. 2023. What will the agribusiness lobby do next? https://sumauma.com/en/como-a-alianca-entre-o-agronegocio-e-o-congresso-atua-para-garantir-o-retrocesso-na-legislacao-socioambiental-do-brasil/ (Accessed 18 August 2023)
- ¹⁶³ Greenpeace. 2021. Marketing Meat. How EU Promotional Funds Favour Meat And Dairy. <u>66cec587-</u>marketing meat gpeu report2 single.pdf (greenpeace.org)
- ¹⁶⁴ The main types of NCD are cardiovascular diseases (such as heart attacks and stroke), cancers, chronic respiratory diseases (such as chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and asthma) and diabetes.
- Noncommunicable diseases (NCDs), also known as chronic diseases, tend to be of long duration and are the result of a combination of genetic, physiological, environmental and behavioural factors. The main types of NCD are cardiovascular diseases (such as heart attacks and stroke), cancers, chronic respiratory diseases (such as chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and asthma) and diabetes. World Health Organization.

 Noncommunicable diseases. Noncommunicable diseases (who.int) (Accessed, August, 2023)
- ¹⁶⁵ Springmann M, Spajic L, Clark M A, Poore J, Herforth A, Webb P et al. 2020. The healthiness and sustainability of national and global food based dietary guidelines: modelling study BMJ, 370 :m2322 doi:10.1136/bmj.m2322
- ¹⁶⁶ EAT. 2020. Diet for a Better Future: Rebooting and Reimagining Healthy and Sustainable Food Systems in the G20. eatforum.org/content/uploads/2020/07/Diets-for-a-Better-Future_G20_National-Dietary-Guidelines.pdf
- ¹⁶⁷ Supang Chantavanich, Samarn Laodumrongchai, Christina Stringer. 2015. Under the shadow: Forced labour among sea fishers in Thailand, Marine Policy. Volume 68.2016.Pages 1-7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2015.12.015.

- ¹⁶⁸ Emissions impossible: How big meat and dairy are heating up the planet. 2018. GRAIN and the Institute for Agriculture and Trade Policy (IATP). https://www.iatp.org/sites/default/files/2018-08/Emissions%20impossible%20EN%2012.pdf
- Howard, P. H. (2019). Corporate concentration in global meat processing: The role of feed and finance subsidies. Global meat: Social and environmental consequences of the expanding meat industry, 31-53
 ECT Group. 2022. Food Barons Crisis Profiteering, Digitalization and Shifting Power.
 https://www.etcgroup.org/files/files/food-barons-2022-full sectors-final 16 sept.pdf
- ¹⁷¹ States Requests USMCA Dispute Settlement Consultations on Mexico's Agricultural Biotechnology Measures https://ustr.gov/about-us/policy-offices/press-office/press-releases/2023/june/united-states-requests-usmca-dispute-settlement-consultations-mexicos-agricultural-biotechnology (Accessed 23 August 2023).
- ¹⁷² How European Agribusiness Financiers Are Driving Deforestation in South America. Friends of the Earth. https://friendsoftheearth.eu/wp-content/uploads/2022/07/European-investors-soy-beef-Mercosur-countries.pdf
- ¹⁷³ Halleux, V. 2022. Towards deforestation-free commodities and products in the EU.
 https://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/BRIE/2022/698925/EPRS BRI(2022)698925 EN.pdf
 ¹⁷⁴ Matthews, A., 2022. Implications of the European Green Deal for agri-food trade with developing countries.
- ¹⁷⁵ Peta, C. 2019. Canada's Supply Management System and the Dairy Industry in the Era of Trade Liberalization: A Cultural Commodity?. American Review of Canadian Studies, 49(4), pp.547-562. Doi: https://doi.org/10.1080/02722011.2019.1714679
- ¹⁷⁶ Finance in Common. (2020). "Joint Declaration of All Public Development Banks in the World". Paris. https://financeincommon.org/sites/default/files/2020-11/FiCS%20-%20Joint%20 declaration%20of%20all%20Public%20Development%20Banks.pdf.
- ¹⁷⁷ World Animal Protection. 2021. <u>IFI Industrial Livestock Investments</u>
- ¹⁷⁸ Feedback. 2020. Butchering the planet: The big-name financiers bankrolling livestock corporations and climate change. London. https://feedbackglobal.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/FeedbackReport-ButcheringPlanet-Jul20-HighRes.pdf
- https://newrepublic.com/article/163735/myth-regenerative-ranching
- 180 https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2211912420300584?via%3Dihub
- ¹⁸¹ Garnett, T., Godde, C., Muller, A., Röös, E., Smith, P., De Boer, I. J. M., ... & Van Zanten, H. H. E. (2017). Grazed and confused?: ruminating on cattle, grazing systems, methane, nitrous oxide, the soil carbon sequestration question-and what it all means for greenhouse gas emissions. FCRN.
- ¹⁸² FAO. (2018). Livestock and agroecology How they can support the transition towards sustainable food and agriculture. https://openknowledge.fao.org/server/api/core/bitstreams/ded6e1c7 -68cf-4401-8bb6-2bde2156e144/content
- ¹⁸³ Harwatt, H. Hayek, M.N. Behrens, P. and Ripple, W.J. (2024) Options for a Paris compliant livestock sector. Timeframes, targets and trajectories for livestock sector emissions from a survey of climate scientists. Research report, Brooks McCormick Jr. Animal Law & Policy Program, Harvard Law School. March 2024. Available at: https:// animal.law.harvard.edu/wp-content/uploads/Paris-compliant-livestock-report.pdf
- ¹⁸⁴ FAO. Free, Prior, and Informed Consent. https://www.fao.org/indigenous-peoples/our-pillars/fpic/en/ ¹⁸⁵ World Animal Production. 2021. Towards a humane and sustainable food system.
- https://www.worldanimalprotection.org/sites/default/files/2021-07/Towards-a-humane-and-sustainable-food-system.pdf
- ¹⁸⁶ See The Farms Initiative Farm Animal Responsible Minimum Standards https://www.farmsinitiative.org/ (Accessed 23 August 2023).
- ¹⁸⁷ Enforcement Task Force Focused on Climate and ESG Issues. US Securities and Exchange Commission. https://www.sec.gov/securities-topics/enforcement-task-force-focused-climate-esg-issues. (Accessed 23 August 2023).

```
<sup>188</sup> Corporate sustainability due diligence. European Commission. <a href="https://commission.europa.eu/business-economy-euro/doing-business-eu/corporate-sustainability-due-diligence">https://commission.europa.eu/business-economy-euro/doing-business-eu/corporate-sustainability-due-diligence</a> en#what-are-the-obligations-for-companies-and-their-directors. (Accessed 23 August 2023).
```

¹⁸⁹ U.S. Department of Agriculture, 2023. Farm Labor Stabilization and Protection Pilot Program. https://www.ams.usda.gov/sites/default/files/media/FLSP_NFO.pdf

¹⁹⁰ United Nations Human Rights. BHR Treaty Process. https://www.ohchr.org/en/business-and-human-rights/bhr-treaty-process

¹⁹¹ IPES-Food, 2023. Who's Tipping the Scales? The growing influence of corporations on the governance of food systems, and how to counter it. https://www.ipes-food.org/ img/upload/files/tippingthescales.pdf
¹⁹² European Commission. 2023, June 29. Green Deal: New law to fight global deforestation and forest degradation driven by EU production and consumption enters into force.

https://environment.ec.europa.eu/news/green-deal-new-law-fight-global-deforestation-and-forest-degradation-driven-eu-production-and-2023-06-29 en. (Accessed 23 August 2023).

193 FAO. Free, Prior, and Informed Consent. https://www.fao.org/3/i6190e/i6190e.pdf

¹⁹⁴ Perin, G. and Veras Soares, F. 2023, Apr 29. Evidence and Lessons from Brazil's Food Procurement Programme. Observer Research Foundation. https://www.orfonline.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/04/T20 PolicyBrief TF6 BrazilFoodProcurement.pdf

 195 GFI. 2023. State of global policy. Public Investments in alternative proteins to feed a growing world. $https://gfi.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/01/State-of-Global-Policy-Report_2022.pdf$

¹⁹⁶ What is Participatory Budgeting? Participatory Budgeting Project.

https://www.participatorybudgeting.org/what-is-pb/(Accessed 23 August 2023).

¹⁹⁷ See The Farms Initiative Farm Animal Responsible Minimum Standards https://www.farmsinitiative.org/ (Accessed 23 August 2023

¹⁹⁸ Anderson, C.R., McCune, N., Buccini, G., Mendez, V.E., Carasco, A., Caswell, M., Blume, S., & Ahmed, F. (2022). Working Together for Agroecology Transitions. Perspectives on Agroecology Transitions – No. 3. Agroecology and Livelihoods Collaborative (ALC), University of Vermont.

https://www.uvm.edu/agroecology/wp-content/uploads/2022/09/3_AETBrief_English2.pdf

¹⁹⁹ Altieri, M. A., & Toledo, V. M. (2011). The agroecological revolution in Latin America: rescuing nature, ensuring food sovereignty and empowering peasants. *Journal of peasant studies*, *38*(3), 587-612.

²⁰⁰ Hernandez, E., Llonch, P., & Turner, P. V. (2022). Applied Animal Ethics in Industrial Food Animal Production: Exploring the Role of the Veterinarian. Animals 2022, 12, 678.

²⁰¹ De Briyne, N., Vidović, J., Morton, D. B., & Magalhães-Sant'Ana, M. (2020). Evolution of the teaching of animal welfare science, ethics and law in European veterinary schools (2012 –2019). *Animals*, *10*(7), 1238.

²⁰² Cornish, A. R., Briley, D., Wilson, B. J., Raubenheimer, D., Schlosberg, D., & McGreevy, P. D. (2020). The price of good welfare: Does informing consumers about what on-package labels mean for animal welfare influence their purchase intentions?. *Appetite*, *148*, 104577.

²⁰³ Government of Canada helps meet global demand for sustainable protein products. 2021, Nov 17. https://www.canada.ca/en/agriculture-agri-food/news/2021/11/government-of-canada-helps-meet-global-demand-for-sustainable-protein-products.html (Accessed 23 August 2023).

²⁰⁴ Mooney, P., 2018. Blocking the chain: Industrial food chain concentration, Big Data platforms and food sovereignty solutions.

https://www.etcgroup.org/sites/www.etcgroup.org/files/files/blockingthechain english web.pdf

²⁰⁵ Clapp, J., 2021. The problem with growing corporate concentration and power in the global food system. Nature Food, 2(6), pp.404-408. https://doi.org/10.1038/s43016-021-00297-7

²⁰⁶ GFI. 2023. State of global policy. Public Investments in alternative proteins to feed a growing world. https://gfi.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/01/State-of-Global-Policy-Report_2022.pdf

²⁰⁷ Coolfood Meals FAQs. https://coolfood.org/faqs/ (Accessed 23 August 2023).

²⁰⁸ FAO. Food Wastage Footprint. https://www.fao.org/nr/sustainability/food-loss-and-waste/en/ (Accessed 6 May 2024).

²⁰⁹ Zec S, Minto C, Agostoni C, Fano C, Ocagli H, Lorenzoni G, Gregori D. Communicating Risk Regarding Food Consumption: The Case of Processed Meat. Nutrients. 2019 Feb 14;11(2):400. doi: 10.3390/nu11020400. PMID: 30769854; PMCID: PMC6413201.

²¹⁰ Policies to protect children from the harmful impact of food marketing: WHO guideline. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.

https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241500210

²¹¹Heart UKAssociation. Low and high fat foods at a glance

https://www.heartuk.org.uk/eating-for-hofh-if-youre-taking-lomitapide-/low-and-high-fat-foods-at-a-glance-. (Accessed 06 May 2024

²¹² The official Dietary Guidelines - good for health and climate. Danish Veterinary and Food Administration. https://foedevarestyrelsen.dk/kost-og-foedevarer/alt-om-mad/de-officielle-kostraad/kostraad-til-dig/de-officielle-kostraad/spis-mindre-koed-vaelg-baelgfrugter-og-fisk (Accessed 29 August 2023)

²¹³ Darmon, Poinsot, Vieux; More vegetarian meals in school canteens to reconcile nutritional quality and environmental protection in France; So what?, Policy brief n° 23, September 2022, UNESCO Chair in World Food Systems, https://www.chaireunesco-adm.com/IMG/pdf/sowhat-23_2022-en.pdf

²¹⁴ Good Food Cities Accelerator. C40. https://www.c40.org/accelerators/good-food-cities/ (Accessed 23 August 2023).

²¹⁵ Velazquez & Bowman Introduce Legislation to Provide Plant-Based Entrees in Schools. 2023, May 11. https://velazquez.house.gov/media-center/press-releases/velazquez-bowman-introduce-legislation-provide-plant-based-entrees. (Accessed 23 August 2023).

²¹⁶ World Food Program USA. 2023. The Effects of Child Nutrition on Academic Performance: How School Meals Can Break the Cycle of Poverty. https://www.wfpusa.org/articles/effects-child-nutrition-academic-performance-how-school-meals-can-break-cycle-poverty/ (Accessed 10 May 2024)

²¹⁷ Rybak, G., Villanova, D., Burton, S., & Berry, C. 2023. Examining the Effects of Carbon Emission Information on Restaurant Menu Items: Differential Effects of Positive Icons, Negative Icons, and Numeric Disclosures on Consumer Perceptions and Restaurant Evaluations. *Journal of the Association for Consumer Research*, 8(3), 000-000.